## **University of Alberta**

# Association between Asthma and Vitamin D in Children, Adolescents and Adults

by

Selvanayagam John Niruban

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science in Clinical Epidemiology

Department of Public Health Sciences

©Selvanayagam John Niruban Spring 2014 Edmonton, Alberta

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Libraries to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only. Where the thesis is converted to, or otherwise made available in digital form, the University of Alberta will advise potential users of the thesis of these terms.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis and, except as herein before provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatsoever without the author's prior written permission

#### Acknowledgement

This thesis would not have been possible without the help and contributions from several people. First and foremost, I would like to express my sincere thanks to my supervisor, Dr. A. Senthilselvan, for granting me an opportunity and guidance to work on this project, and supporting throughout my graduate program. Secondly I would like to thank Dr. Jeremy Beach, and Dr. A. Kannayiram for their assistance and feedback to all chapters in this thesis. In addition, I am also thankful to Ms. Irene Wong at the Research data Centre, University of Alberta for providing assistance with accessing the confidential data of the Canadian Health Measures Survey conducted by the Statistics Canada.

[Disclaimer: The research analysis and results are based on data from Statistics Canada and the opinions expressed herein do not represent the views of Statistics Canada.]

#### Abstract

Inconsistent results have been reported in studies investigating the relationship between serum vitamin D levels and respiratory outcomes. In this thesis, data from the Canadian Health Measures Survey were used to examine the relationship between serum 25-hydroxy vitamin D [25(OH)D] levels and respiratory outcomes. Children with 25(OH)D levels less than 50 nmol/L and greater than 75 nmol/L had increased risk of current wheeze and reduced crosssectional changes in lung function with age in comparison to those children with 25(OH)D levels between 50 and 74nmol/L suggesting a U-shaped relationship between 25(OH)D levels and these respiratory outcomes in children. The lower 25(OH)D category was also a significant risk factor for asthma attacks in adolescents and adults. Monitoring of serum vitamin D level may enhance management of respiratory conditions in children, adolescents and adults. Further exploration of this relationship is needed to identify the optimal level of vitamin D for respiratory outcomes.

# **Table of Contents**

Chapter 1 Introduction		1	
1.1	Background		
1.1.1	Definition of Asthma		
1.1.2	Prevalence and risk factors of asthma		
1.1.3	Determinants of lung function		
1.2.1	Vitamin D overview		
1.2.2	Sources of vitamin D		
1.2.3	Determinants of serum vitamin D level		
1.2.4	Recommended dietary intake level		
1.2.5	Measurement of vitamin D level in population-based studies		
1.2.5			
1.2.6	Vitamin D action relevant to allergic diseases	10	
1 2 7	Vitamin D and respiratory outcomes in observational studies		
1.2.7			
1.2.8	Non-linear relationship between vitamin D and Health		
	outcomes	1/	
1.2.9	Summary	21	
1.2.10	Research questions	21	
	References	23	

Chapter 2	Association of vitamin D with respiratory outcomes in		
	Canadian children	31	
2.1	Introduction	31	
2.2 Methods		33	
2.3 Statistical analysis		35	
2.4 Results		37	
2.5	Discussion	41	
	References	57	
Chapter 3	Association between vitamin D level and asthma in		
	adolescents and adults	62	
3.1	Introduction	62	
3.2	Methods	64	
3.3	Statistical analysis	66	
3.4	Results	68	
3.5	Discussion	71	
	References	87	
Chapter 4	Discussion and Conclusions	92	
4.1	Summary of the findings	92	
4.2	Discussion	94	
4.3	Limitations	97	
4.4	Conclusions	99	
	References	102	

# List of Tables

2.1	Characteristics of the study sample, proportion of current	49
	wheeze by factors and odds ratio for the relationship of factors	
	with current wheeze	
2.2	Proportion of ever asthma by factors and odds ratio for the	51
	relationship of factors with ever asthma	
2.3	Results from the multiple logistic regression of current wheeze	53
	and ever asthma with vitamin D levels	
2.4	Distribution of demographic factors and lung function by	54
	vitamin D categories	
2.5	Results from the multiple linear regression analysis of lung	55
	function outcomes	
3.1	Distribution of sample characteristics by current and ever	76
	asthma	
3.2	Characteristics of the study sample, proportion of current	77
	asthma by factors and odds ratio for the relationship of factors	
	with current asthma	
3.3	Proportion of ever asthma by factors and odds ratio for the	79
	relationship of factors with ever asthma	
3.4	Distribution of sample characteristics and lung function by	81
	vitamin D categories	
3.5	Results from the multiple logistic regression of current asthma	82
	and ever asthma	

3.6	Relationship between ever asthma and vitamin D categories	83
	for early and late onset of asthma.	

3.7 Results from the multiple linear regression analysis of lung 84 function outcomes

## **List of Figures**

- 2.1 Relationship between forced expiratory volume in one second
  47 (FEV1) with children's age for the vitamin D categories (low: ≤ 49 nmol/L, moderate: 50 to ≤74 nmol/L and high: ≥75 nmol/L) for male Caucasian children with height and weight adjusted at the mean values.
- 2.2 Relationship between forced vital capacity (FVC) with children's 47 age for the vitamin D categories (low: ≤ 49 nmol/L, moderate: 50 to ≤74 nmol/L and high: ≥75 nmol/L) for male Caucasian children with height and weight adjusted at the mean values.
- 2.3 Relationship between predicted risk of current wheeze with serum
  48 vitamin D level from generalized additive model. Probability
  obtained was for age 9 years, male sex, positive family history of
  asthma with no use of electric heating.

# List of Abbreviations

1,25(OH) <sub>2</sub> D <sub>3</sub>	Calcitriol	
25(OH)D	25-hydroxy vitamin D	
25(OH)D <sub>3</sub>	Calcidiol	
7-DHC	7-Dehydrocholesterol	
APC	antigen presenting cells	
ATS	American Thoracic Society	
CDC	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention	
CHMS	Canadian Health Measures Survey	
COPD	Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease	
<b>D</b> <sub>2</sub>	Ergocalciferol	
<b>D</b> <sub>3</sub>	Cholecalciferol	
FEF <sub>25%-75%</sub>	Forced expiratory flow between 25% and 75% of forced vital	
	capacity	
$FEV_1$	Forced expiratory volume in one second,	
FVC	Forced vital capacity (FVC)	
HRV	Human rhinovirus	
IgE	Immunoglobulin E	
IL	interleukin	
IOM	Institute of Medicine	
IU	international unit	
KNHANES	Korean National Health and Nutritional Examination Survey	
MEC	Mobile examination centre	
MHC	major histocompatibility complex	
NHANES	National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey	
OR	Odds ratio	
PTH	parathyroid hormone	
PUFA	Poly-unsaturated fatty acids	
RSV	Respiratory syncytial virus	
$Th_1$	T-helper type 1 cells	
Th <sub>2</sub>	T-helper type 2 cells	

TNF	tumor necrosis factor
T-reg cells	T-regulator cells
UVB	ultraviolet B waves
VDR	vitamin D receptor

#### Chapter 1 Introduction

#### 1.1 Background

A paper format is followed in this thesis. In Chapter 1, a literature review of asthma, lung function, vitamin D and the relationship between vitamin D levels and respiratory outcomes is given. It is followed with a manuscript on the relationship between vitamin D levels and respiratory outcomes in children in Chapter 2, and a manuscript on the relationship between vitamin D levels and respiratory outcomes in and adolescents and adults in Chapter 3, respectively. Finally, a general discussion of the findings in the thesis and overall conclusions of the thesis are given in Chapter 4.

#### **1.1.1 Definition of Asthma**

According to the American Thoracic Society's revised definition in 1987 [ATS 1987], asthma is: "a clinical syndrome characterized by increased responsiveness of the tracheobronchial tree to a variety of stimuli. The major symptoms of asthma are paroxysms of dyspnoea, wheezing, and cough, which may vary from mild and almost undetectable to severe and unremitting (status asthmaticus). The primary physiological manifestation of this hyperresponsiveness is variable airways obstruction. This can take the form of spontaneous fluctuations in the severity of obstruction, substantial improvements in the severity of obstruction following bronchodilators or corticosteroids, or increased obstruction caused by drugs or other stimuli" (1).

Asthma is a complex heterogeneous disorder with respect to immunopathology, clinical phenotypes, response to therapies, and natural history (2). It is characterized by chronic airway abnormalities such as airway hyperresponsiveness, airway obstruction, airway remodeling, and infiltration of eosinophils and T-helper type 2 ( $Th_2$ ) cells in the airway sub-mucosa, which leads to inflammation and edema in the bronchial mucosa, and hyper-secretion of mucus (3). Asthma often develops in childhood, but it can develop at any stage in a person's life. Factors that trigger an asthma attack may vary from person to person, and include indoor and outdoor allergens, air pollutants, respiratory tract infections, exercise, weather changes, food additives, drugs, and extreme emotions (4). Frequent exacerbation of asthma has a significant impact on quality of life. Severity of asthma is measured using the frequency and severity of symptoms, as well as response to available medications. Severe asthma can be life threatening. Corticosteroids and beta-adrenergic agonists are the most effective classes of agents used in asthma care. Mild to moderate asthma is usually well controlled by low-dose inhaled corticosteroids (5). A significant proportion of asthma patients have either no or poor response to asthma medications. This difference in response to medication may be attributable to genetic factors, and other factors at host and environment level (6).

#### 1.1.2 Prevalence and risk factors of asthma

Asthma 'epidemic' was noticed in developed countries in the latter half of the 20th century. Increasing prevalence rates of asthma were noted in both developed and developing countries (7). Worldwide, over 300 million people are

thought to be affected by asthma. It is estimated that this number will increase to 400 million by 2025 (8). Although the prevalence of asthma appeared to have reached a plateau in industrialized countries, recent studies show its prevalence has continued to rise in developing countries (9). In the United States alone, the cost of health-care due to asthma care was estimated as \$ 56 billion each year. Prescription medication accounted for the largest proportion of this cost (10).

The most common early life condition affecting children is wheezing (7). Parental history of asthma, male sex, exposure to indoor air pollutants, respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) and human rhinovirus (HRV) infection are some of the risk factors associated with asthma in early childhood. Allergens including domestic mites, furred animals, cockroach allergen, fungi, molds, and yeasts all appear to influence the development of asthma. Asthma is also associated with obesity, ethnicity, and living in westernized countries (3). In terms of race, Puerto Ricans, non-Hispanic blacks, and American Indians appear to have a higher prevalence of asthma compared to non-Hispanic whites (11). Asthma is common in adults too. CDC has estimated that 1 in 12 adults has asthma in United States. Obesity, female sex, atopy, and low socioeconomic status are some of the risk factors for asthma in adults (12).

There are many hypotheses put forward to explain the increase in prevalence of asthma. According to the hygiene hypothesis, decreased exposure to infections in early life leads to altered development of the immune system. Smaller families in developed countries, improved hygiene, wide-spread antibiotic usage and increasingly 'germ' free environments have altered exposure

to microorganisms (3). As a result, the immune system of many people has deviated towards a predominantly  $Th_2$  phenotype rather than a balanced  $Th_1/Th_2$  response. This inadequate up-regulation of  $Th_1$  immune responses is thought to result in increased risk of asthma and allergy related conditions. In recent years, the hygiene hypothesis has been broadly accepted, although it cannot explain some inconsistent asthma findings such as the link between obesity and asthma, the high prevalence in poor and urban environments, and the concomitant rise in  $Th_1$  mediated autoimmune diseases.

There are also dietary hypotheses put forward to explain the increase in asthma in recent decades. From observational studies, declining or reduced dietary antioxidants (e.g.: vitamin C, and E) and minerals (e.g.: Se) intake has been linked to increases in asthma incidence. Similarly, declining intake of long chain n-3 poly-unsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) and increase in n-6 PUFA was associated with an increase in asthma. These hypotheses suggest that declining lung and respiratory epithelial antioxidant defenses increased oxidant induced airway damage, inflammation and damage (13).

#### **1.1.3** Determinants of lung function

Lung function tests are widely used standard parameters for the assessment of lung function. These parameters, typically including forced vital capacity (FVC), forced expiratory volume in 1 second (FEV<sub>1</sub>), the ratio between FEV<sub>1</sub> and FVC (FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC), and forced expiratory flow between 25% and 75% of vital capacity (FEF<sub>25%-75%</sub>) are obtained noninvasively using spirometry and

can inform about dynamic lung volumes, capacities, and rates of flow. Various factors have been recognized as affecting lung function parameters. It is important to identify the factors affecting pulmonary function in order to prevent impaired or suboptimal lung function. Physical exercise, ethnicity, age, sex and smoking are some of these influential factors (14). In addition to biological factors such as height and weight, socioeconomic status, exposure to pollution, malnutrition and low birth weight also have been identified as significant predictors of lung function in study reports (15). Spirometry measurements taken before and after the administrating a bronchodilator is often used to diagnose reversible airway obstruction and measure therapeutic response (16).

#### **1.2.1** Vitamin D overview

Vitamin D is an essential nutrient. Although well known as one of the fatsoluble vitamins, the active form of vitamin D actually belongs to family of steroid hormones, and is called as a secosteroid which means hormone/drug derived from the cholesterol molecule (17). Vitamin D is part of a complex endocrine pathway that regulates the interactions among kidney, bone, parathyroid gland, and intestine that maintains extracellular calcium levels within physiological levels to maintain skeletal integrity. It regulates serum calcium level by suppressing the effects of parathyroid hormone (18). Cholecalciferol  $[D_3]$ , calcidiol  $[25(OH)D_3]$ , and calcitriol  $[1,25(OH)_2D_3]$  are three forms of vitamin D. The plant form of vitamin D is called ergocalciferol  $[D_2]$  (19). The other naturally occurring form is cholecalciferol and is found in dietary sources or synthesized in skin from 7-dehydrocholestrol (7-DHC). During this transformation previtamin D<sub>3</sub> undergoes photothermal-isomerization under ultraviolet B irradiation (290-315nm wavelength) and gives rise to cholecalciferol (20,21). Bound to vitamin D-binding protein (DBP), cholecalciferol is transferred to the liver where it is converted to 25(OH)D by  $25-\alpha$ -hydroxylase. This metabolism is not regulated by a feedback mechanism, so the serum level of 25(OH)D largely reflects the amount of vitamin D produced in the skin in addition to dietary intake. The active form of vitamin D  $[1,25(OH)_2D_3]$  is formed from 25(OH)D in the kidneys. This hydroxylation process is tightly regulated by parathyroid hormone, and serves as a major control point in the production of the active form of vitamin D. The enzyme converting inactive 25(OH)D to the active form of vitamin D is 25-

hydroxyvitamin D-1α-hydroxylase and is found in kidney and other tissues such as respiratory epithelial cells (20). This extra-renal hydroxylation results in calcitriol appearing mainly intracellularly, which is clinically unmeasurable (22). 25(OH)D and 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D are catabolized by 25-hydroxyvitamin D-24hydroxylase into biologically inactive, and water-soluble calcitroic acid.

#### **1.2.2** Sources of vitamin D

Sunlight is the primary source of vitamin D for humans. Because of this, low levels of vitamin D are considered in part a behavioral / lifestyle issue rather than simply being due to inadequate intake. Increased time spent indoors, increased use of sunscreen, and sun protective clothing are some behavioral changes in modern lifestyle leading to low vitamin D levels (13,21). Cutaneous synthesis of vitamin D reaches equilibrium after several minutes of sun exposure. With excess exposure to sunlight, it is not possible to develop toxic levels of vitamin D (23). On the other hand, there are recommendations that in the summer the sun should be avoided to reduce the risk of wrinkles and skin cancer. Due to this fact, it was widely accepted that dietary supplementation and short periods of sun exposure are the preferred methods of obtaining vitamin D (24). In Canada, the amount of sunlight in the fall and winter are inadequate to meet the required levels of vitamin D (25). As a result, anyone can be vitamin D deficient in winter and but have sufficient levels in the summer.

Unlike other vitamins, vitamin D doesn't naturally occur in many foods. Dietary sources of vitamin D include fortified foods, fatty fish, fish oils, and vitamin D pills (24). Commercially distributed major preparations of vitamin D

contain vitamin  $D_2$  (19). Some researchers strongly argue that dietary vitamin D is insufficient to maintain adequate vitamin D levels in the body. They strongly advocate using both fortification and supplementation to maintain optimal levels of vitamin D (26).

#### **1.2.3** Determinants of serum vitamin D level

The serum level of vitamin D is influenced by several factors including the melanin content of the skin, age, factors affecting the duration and intensity of sun light exposure (latitude, season, time spent outdoors, clothing, and cloud cover), body fat, and sunscreen use (23). Over-weight or obese patients are significantly more likely to suffer from low vitamin D levels. Fat sequesters vitamin D in the body; so obese people may need a higher intake of vitamin D. The use of exogenous steroids (e.g.: those who are on glucocorticoids for asthma) tends to increase the destruction of vitamin D, thus making patients with asthma at higher risk for vitamin D deficiency. Aging is another factor affecting body's ability to synthesize vitamin D from sunlight. With aging, the amount of 7-DHC in skin decreases. About 50-60% of the older population doesn't have satisfactory vitamin levels (27). Apart from aging, urbanization, decreased outdoor activities, air pollution, and global dimming are some factors accounting for vitamin D deficiency in older population (28).

#### **1.2.4 Recommended dietary intake level**

Having optimal vitamin D level may help improve existing medical conditions, and protect against the development of new disease conditions (29).

Some studies showed that supplementation of vitamin D in high levels (4000-8000 IU/day) reduced autoimmune disease symptoms (20). The current recommended daily allowance of 400-600 IU is criticized as being too low by some as, while adequate for preserving bone health, it potentially ignores the important role of vitamin D in immunoregulation. In general, each additional 100 IU of vitamin D per day raises serum 25(OH)D concentration by approximately 2.5 nmol/L. Factors that call for a higher intake include dark skin color, older age, and obesity. It is suggested that 1400-2000 IU/day, and if the patient is obese, 1.5-2 times of that may be needed. Up to 10,000 IU/day appears to have no unwanted toxicity.

Since vitamin D deficiency is associated with numerous adverse outcomes, routine vitamin D testing for monitoring serum vitamin D level in individuals at risk has been recommended. A faction of researchers suggest that annual monitoring of serum 25(OH)D should be implemented to actively detect individuals at risk of vitamin D deficiency (24).

Vitamin D deficiency has no easily visible symptoms. Pregnant women, school going children, young adults, and elderly are some population subcategories that are more prone to develop vitamin deficiency. Specially, breast-fed infants, children who do not drink fortified milk, those with malabsorption, kidney disease, severe liver disease, taking drugs that interfere with vitamin D metabolism, those living in higher latitudes, and those with decreased sun exposure due to cultural reasons are all at increased risk of developing vitamin D deficiency (20).

#### **1.2.5** Measurement of vitamin D level in population-based studies

Serum 25(OH)D is the major circulating metabolite of vitamin D and used to determine body vitamin D status. Measured serum 25(OH)D is a total quantity of both 25(OH)D<sub>2</sub> and 25(OH)D<sub>3</sub> (30). The half-life of serum 25(OH)D is 2-3 weeks; serum 1,25-(OH)<sub>2</sub>D has a half-life of 4 hours (31). Several assays are available to measure levels of 25(OH)D and 1,25-(OH)<sub>2</sub>D. The gold standard reference method to measure serum 25(OH)D is liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry. Immunoassay and chemiluminescence assay methods are becoming popular and are commonly used due to their low cost, and ability to handle high-volume throughputs (32). A recent study reported that the agreement between LIAISON chemiluminescence assay and liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry for measuring 25(OH)D levels was excellent and superior in comparison to other automated immunoassays that are currently used in laboratories (33).

#### **1.2.6** Vitamin D action relevant to allergic diseases

Vitamin D has a significant impact on immune homeostasis, especially modifying inflammatory responses and affecting differentiation of immune cells. Vitamin D directly affects dendritic cell, monocyte, macrophage, B cell, T cell, and airway epithelial cell functions (34). These cells express vitamin D receptors (VDR) and vitamin D metabolizing hormones (35). The active form of vitamin D directly acts on T lymphocytes and helps activate them. Activation of  $CD_4^+$  T cells results in a five-fold increase in VDR expression, which enables calcitriol to

regulate over 200 identified genes (36). Th<sub>1</sub> cells typically secrete interferon- $\gamma$ , interleukin (IL)-2, IL-12, TNF- $\alpha$ , all of which augment the cell-mediated defense against intracellular pathogens. Th<sub>2</sub> cells express IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 which participate in allergic responses. A strong suppression of  $Th_1$  cells is effected by vitamin D through expression of  $Th_2$  cytokines. By this mechanism,  $Th_1$  T-cell proliferation is inhibited. Vitamin D also enhances Th<sub>2</sub> responses through enhancement of IL-4 production. This effect is further facilitated through the effect of vitamin D on Antigen presenting cells (APC). Similarly, activated macrophages release TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6, and IL-17 which are involved in allergic inflammation (35). Vitamin D also acts as a potent suppressor of interferon- $\gamma$ mediated macrophage activation. Likewise, higher serum levels of vitamin D are associated with increased numbers of circulating T-regulator cells which might be stimulating the secretion of the anti-inflammatory cytokine, IL-10, resulting in a reduction in the levels of many pro-inflammatory cytokines involved in pathogenesis of asthma.

Experimental studies provide evidence suggesting alternative mechanisms as to how low levels of vitamin D might be involved in the pathogenesis of asthma. Agrawal *et al.*, had shown that calcitriol decreases TNF- $\alpha$  (37). Decreases in the levels of various pro-inflammatory cytokines, including TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-1 beta deactivate NF-kB, a potential mechanism where the active form of vitamin D protects against airway hyper-responsiveness and airway neutrophilia (36). NF-kB is a transcriptional factor that acts as a central mediator of human immune response by regulating and coordinating the expression of various inflammatory

genes for inflammatory mediators. This provides a cellular level mechanism through which deficiency of vitamin D could lead to the development of asthma (38).

Vitamin D is involved in innate immunity (39). One mechanism by which vitamin D involves is via its inhibiting effect on dendritic cells which have important functions in maintaining both protective immunity and self-tolerance. By down-regulating the expression of MHC class II molecules, vitamin D inhibits the differentiation, maturation, and immune-stimulating ability of dendritic cells. Vitamin D inhibits the maturation of dendritic cells, which in turn maintain an immature, and tolerogenic phenotype with inhibition of activation markers such as MHC class II CD40, CD80, and CD86 and up-regulation of inhibitory molecules. Concurrently, vitamin D also suppresses IL-12 and enhances IL-10 production in these dendritic cells (35).

Vitamin D potentially modifies innate immunity also through induction of the antimicrobial peptide cathelicidin. Cathelicidin is an antimicrobial peptide produced by neutrophils, macrophages, and the cells lining epithelial surfaces of the skin, respiratory tract, and gastrointestinal tract in humans. It has a broad antimicrobial activity against Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria, as well as certain viruses and fungi (40). Vitamin D up-regulates cathelicidin mRNA in several cell lines and primary cultures including keratinocytes, neutrophils and macrophages. Direct correlation of vitamin D levels with systemic levels of cathelicidin suggests that vitamin D in the control of infections (41).

#### **1.2.7** Vitamin D and respiratory outcomes in observational studies

Observational studies have suggested that vitamin D plays a role in allergic airway diseases and that low serum vitamin D is associated with poor asthma control, frequent and severe asthma exacerbations, reduced lung function, and increased medications use. It has also been reported that the asthma epidemic and vitamin D deficiency follow the same epidemiological patterns of association with obesity, African American race, socioeconomic status, and living in westernized countries (29). These findings led researchers to extensively study the role of vitamin D in asthma.

Concerning the role of vitamin D on asthma, two distinct schools of thought exist. One thought is that widespread use of vitamin D as rickets prophylaxis resulted in an increase in asthma and allergy. This hypothesis has been favored by the effects of vitamin D in promoting differentiation of naïve  $Th_0$ cells towards the  $Th_2$  phenotype (42). The other line of thought suggests that there is a widespread vitamin D deficiency despite the fortification of vitamin D in food items, which resulted from lifestyle changes such as the increasing tendency to stay indoors, sunshine avoidance to prevent skin cancer, and inadequate intake of vitamin D, and this vitamin D deficiency impacted the regulatory T-cell population, and reduced the inhibitory effect of regulatory T-cells on  $Th_2$  immune differentiation (43).

A study by Gupta *et al*, in 86 British children aged 6-16 years with varying asthma severity found that vitamin D levels were significantly lower in severe

therapy resistant asthmatics, positively related to FEV<sub>1</sub>, FVC, and negatively associated with airway smooth muscle mass. The authors concluded that vitamin D supplementation may be helpful in management of steroid therapy resistant asthma in pediatric population (44). A recent study by Sutherland *et al.*, in asthmatic adults observed an association between reduced vitamin D levels and impaired lung function, increased airway hyper-responsiveness and reduced glucocorticoid response. It showed low vitamin D levels affect long-term prognosis of asthma by increasing expression of pro-inflammatory TNF- $\alpha$  and accelerating deterioration of lung function (45). In a case-control study conducted on Qatari children below 16 years, vitamin D levels below 50 nmol/L were found to be the strongest predictor of asthma with an odds ratio of 4.8 (46). Similarly, in a case-control study conducted on Iranian children between 6 and 18 years, serum 25(OH)D levels were linearly associated with FEV<sub>1</sub> and FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC, and low levels of vitamin D were associated with asthma (47).

In the PIAMA cohort study, in a subgroup with measurement of serum vitamin D levels at age 4 were inversely associated with asthma at ages 4 and 8 years, while in another subgroup serum levels measured at age 8 were positively associated with asthma at age 8. This study suggested that vitamin D exerts a complex and age-dependent effect on respiratory outcomes (48).

A randomized control study conducted on Japanese school children aged 6-15 years reported that a 1200 IU/day vitamin D supplement taken during the winter and early spring helped prevent influenza and asthma attacks (49). An ecological study using asthma prevalence data in adults from United States and

Australia reported that the prevalence of asthma was associated with geographical latitude, implying that latitudinal difference in insolation, and subsequently serum vitamin D as an environmental factor influences the prevalence of asthma (50). There are also studies that reported no association between vitamin D supplementation and asthma. In a small study of children aged 6-17 years from America with physician diagnosed asthma, supplementation of 1000 IU/daily vitamin D did not affect asthma control test (ACT) score or FEV<sub>1</sub> at 6 months or 1-year of follow-up (51).

It has been suggested that vitamin D may slow the progressive decline in lung function seen in some asthmatics, a characteristic of airway remodeling. By inhibiting the formation of matrix metalloproteinase as well as fibroblast proliferation and influencing collagen synthesis, vitamin D may affects the tissue remodeling and probably lung function (52). In airway remodeling, a certain type of smooth muscle growth occurs prominently which reflects airway inflammation and leads to the impaired lung function. In addition it may also modulate protease-antiprotease imbalance and oxidative stress (53).

Initially, from a population-based cross-sectional data, Black *et al.*, reported a positive association of serum vitamin D levels and lung function in adults (14). Likewise, a cross-sectional analysis of British birth cohort participants at the age of 45 years reported that increasing serum 25(OH)D levels were linearly associated with greater FEV<sub>1</sub> and FVC (54). Similar findings were observed in an Iranian study too (47). According to a cohort study conducted on Danish adults, lower plasma 25(OH)D levels were not only associated with lower

FEV<sub>1</sub> and FVC, but also with faster decline of lung function in COPD patients (53). In a cross-sectional study conducted on Egyptian adults, serum levels of 25(OH)D were significantly lower among COPD patients, and positively associated with FEV<sub>1</sub> (55). In a review, Zarogoulidis *et al.* reported that between 2007 to 2012, 11 out of 15 observational studies report an inverse association between serum 25(OH)D and asthma (56).

Early-life events, especially exposures during pregnancy, have been increasingly recognized as the determinants of early programming of several clinical conditions. Particularly, these events activate or silence genes which are associated with disease conditions. Prematurity, fetal growth restriction, and mode of delivery are some of the known risk factors associated with childhood asthma (57). Along this line of research, an inverse association between wheezing and maternal vitamin D levels has been reported.

An Australian cohort study of singleton children reported that an increased risk of asthma was observed in children born in winter and autumn compared to summer, suggesting that reduced sun exposure levels during pregnancy had resulted in low levels of vitamin D in mothers, and resulted in asthma in their offspring (57).

While most studies have suggested low levels of vitamin D are associated with poorer respiratory health, some have also raised concerns about higher levels. From a prospective cohort of 219 children from Tucson, Arizona, Rothers *et al.*, reported that both low and high levels of maternal vitamin D were

associated with increased allergic markers in their offspring at age 5 years (58). Similarly, another cohort study of Caucasian children from the UK reported that higher maternal vitamin D levels during late pregnancy were associated with increased risk of atopic asthma in children at 9 months of age compared to levels below 30 nmol/L (59). In a cohort of 5 year old children from Finland with susceptibility for type 1 diabetes mellitus, a negative association between maternal intake of vitamin D during pregnancy and asthma, allergic rhinitis and atopic asthma was observed (60). A cohort study of Swedish children aged 6 years reported that higher vitamin D intake was associated with more prevalent atopic manifestations, suggesting that vitamin D intake during infancy may cause atopic allergies later in childhood (61).

#### 1.2.8 Non-linear relationship between vitamin D and Health outcomes

As an elevated level of parathyroid hormone is an indicator of vitamin D deficiency, levels of 25(OH)D that suppress the parathyroid hormone have traditionally been utilized as signifying optimal vitamin D levels. From a group of healthy normal adults the mean ± 2SD values were used to define a normal serum 25(OH)D reference range (20). Current normal ranges were determined from a north American reference population, although these values may vary according to age and geographic location (62). However, the use of serum PTH hormone to define an optimal level of serum 25(OH)D has been criticized as giving a false picture of a linear and inverse association between the two (63). Historically, the lower limit of the normal range was much lower than currently accepted levels. Following the establishment of vitamin D requirements by the Food and Nutrition

Board of the Institute of Medicine in 1989 (64) and 1997 (65), vitamin D deficiency was redefined as serum 25(OH)D levels below 50 nmol/L in 2011. Furthermore, it has been suggested that levels above 75 nmol/L are not consistently associated with benefits and levels greater than 125 nmol/L may be associated with toxicity. Of note, the IOM considered hypercalcemia as an indicator of vitamin D toxicity in setting these recommendations (66). In the clinical practice guidelines of the Endocrine Society levels below 50 nmol/L are considered as deficiency, levels between 50-75 nmol/L as insufficiency, and levels above 75nmol/L were recommended for optimal health (67).

While the number of studies examining the role of vitamin D on a wide range of clinical diseases has exponentially increased in recent years, there has been no unanimity on levels that can be considered as optimal. Traditionally serum levels below 13-17 nmol/L were believed to induce osteomalacia, serum levels below 25-30 nmol/L induced secondary hyperparathyroidism and osteoporosis, while serum levels above 45-50 nmol/L were usually considered physiologically adequate levels (62). It is noted that vitamin D levels vary significantly between people from different geographic locations and races. Vitamin D concentrations were generally higher among people living in northern latitudes compared to those living near the equator (50).

Hypponen *et al.*, reported that both <25 and >135 serum 25(OH)D levels were associated with respect to high allergic marker (IgE) concentrations in a cohort of 45-yr old British adults (69). A small cohort study from Tucson, Arizona looked at the association between maternal cord blood 25(OH)D

concentrations and total IgE levels in offsprings measured serially at 1, 2, 3, and 5 years. Their study categorized vitamin D into 4 categories <50, 50-74, 75-99, and  $\geq$ 100 nmol/L. That study reported that levels <50 and  $\geq$ 100 were associated with adverse effects, reflecting an U-shaped relationship between maternal cord 25(OH)D levels and risk of increased allergic markers in early childhood. It is possible to get levels  $\geq$ 100 nmol/L in a sun-replete area like Arizona, and as a result they may have an adapted immune system with respect to tolerated high serum 25(OH)D levels and may pose a wider optimal range of serum 25(OH)D (58).

The Southampton women's cohort study looked at association between maternal 25(OH)D measured at the 34th week of pregnancy and asthma, wheeze or lung function in offspring at 6-years. This study reported no linear or nonlinear association with outcomes considered (70). Another cross-sectional study conducted on two samples of adolescents data reporting no association between linear, or dichotomized 25(OH)D at 50 nmol/L (71). Another study in asthmatic adults from Costa Rica, reported a significant association of serum 25(OH)D between 50-75 nmol/L with severe asthma, and levels >75 nmol/L with lower risk of hospitalization related to asthma. This study also reported a marginally significant linear correlation between serum 25(OH)D and FEV1 in asthmatic adults (72).

In a nested case-control study on Nordic Men aged 40-58 years, Tuohimaa *et al.*, looked at the association between serum 25(OH)D levels and prostate cancer. This study used 25(OH)D measured pre-diagnosis (10 years ago) of

cancer and categorized them into <20 nmol/L, 20-30 nmol/L, 20-59 nmol/L, 60-79 nmol/L, and >79 nmol/L, and reported both levels <40 nmol/L and >60 nmol/L were associated with increased risk of prostate cancer (68). Another similar study on pooled data from multiple cohorts reported that serum levels >100 nmol/L were associated with increased risk of pancreatic cancer, while no significant association was observed with lower levels (73). Dror et al., reported a non-linear association between acute coronary syndrome and serum 25(OH)D level, and suggested that levels between 50-90 nmol/L were protective in adults >45 years of age (74). A study on population-based Korean National Health and Nutritional Examination Survey data reported a similar non-linear relationship between serum 25(OH)D levels and hemoglobin levels, and the maximal level of hemoglobin was observed at 65 nmol/L serum 25(OH)D concentration. This study also pointed out this threshold level varied according to sex and menstrual status in females (75). In a study conducted in hip fracture cases and hospital-based controls, the linear and inverse relationship between serum 25(OH)D level and risk fracture was only evident at levels between 0-70 nmol/L. At levels above 70 nmol/L the association was not significant and may even be a risk factor for hip fracture (76). Likewise, a study conducted on Chinese children aged 0-6 years reported an odds ratio of 5.5 of low bone mineral density for <50 nmol/L serum 25(OH)D levels, with the threshold for optimal bone mineral density being 50nmol/L for Chinese children (77). Another study conducted on NHANES data, found that the beneficial effect of increasing serum 25(OH)D levels reached a plateau at 53 nmol/L with respect to ankle-brachial index, a marker of peripheral arterial disease (78).

#### 1.2.9 Summary:

Asthma is a disease with altered immune responses in the lungs. Vitamin D is a significant immune modulator, which exerts its biological actions at the cellular and subcellular level of immune cells. Vitamin D possibly affects the pathogenesis and morbidity of asthma through prevention of viral infections, and enhancing steroid responsiveness. Serum vitamin D level is highly variable depending on biological, behavioral, and environmental factors. Current experimental and epidemiologic evidence provides an inconsistent and incomplete picture of the association between vitamin D status and asthma. Both low and high levels of serum vitamin D may be associated with an increased risk of adverse outcomes, especially asthma. Nevertheless, the threshold used to define low and high vitamin D status has not been consistent between studies. Effects of low and high serum vitamin D levels may impact health differently in children and adults. Overall, the optimal serum vitamin D level, the mode to achieve this optimal level, and the safety of vitamin D intake to prevent from developing asthma or asthma exacerbations still needs to be assessed. Guidelines on recommendations for screening and supplementation of vitamin D need be revisited.

### 1.2.10 Research questions

The primary objective of this study was to investigate the much debated relationship between serum 25(OH)D level and respiratory outcomes using data from a Canadian population. The following are the list of specific objectives:

- 1.1 To investigate the association between serum 25(OH)D level and current wheeze, ever asthma, and lung function parameters in children after controlling for potential confounders.
- 1.2 To identify lower and upper thresholds of optimal range of serum 25(OH)D level in which the lowest risk of current wheeze was observed in children.
- 2.1 To identify the association between current and ever asthma, and lung function outcomes and serum 25(OH)D level in adolescents and adults after controlling for potential confounders.
- 2.3 To identify whether the association between ever asthma and serum 25(OH)D status vary between early-onset and late-onset asthma phenotypes in adults.

## **References:**

- 1. Sears MR. The definition and diagnosis of asthma. Allergy. 1993;48(17 Suppl):12–16; discussion 22–23.
- 2. Holgate ST. Pathogenesis of Asthma. Clin Exp Allergy. 2008;38(6):872–97.
- National Asthma Education and Prevention Program TEP on the D and M of A. Expert panel report 3: Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of asthma [Internet]. U.S. department of Health and Human Services; 2007 Aug. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK7223/
- Rodrigo GJ, Rodrigo C, Hall JB. Acute asthma in adults\*: A review. CHEST J. 2004 Mar 1;125(3):1081–102.
- National Asthma Education and Prevention Program TEP on the D and M of A. Section 4, Managing Asthma Long Term in Children 0–4 Years of Age and 5–11 Years of Age [Internet]. 2007 [cited 2013 Nov 25]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK7229/
- 6. Wenzel S. Severe Asthma in Adults. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2005 Jul 15;172(2):149–60.
- Asthma Fact sheet N°307 [Internet]. WHO Asthma. 2011 [cited 2013 Oct 21]. Available from: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs307/en/
- Masoli M, Fabian D, Holt S, Beasley R, Global Initiative for Asthma (GINA) Program. The global burden of asthma: executive summary of the GINA Dissemination Committee report. Allergy. 2004 May;59(5):469–78.
- 9. Asher MI, Montefort S, Björkstén B, Lai CKW, Strachan DP, Weiland SK, et al. Worldwide time trends in the prevalence of symptoms of asthma, allergic rhinoconjunctivitis, and eczema in childhood: ISAAC Phases One and Three repeat multicountry cross-sectional surveys. Lancet. 2006 Aug 26;368(9537):733–43.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Vital Signs: Asthma Prevalence, Disease Characteristics, and Self-Management Education --- United States, 2001--2009 [Internet]. Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep. [cited 2013 Nov 14]. Available from: http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm6017a4.htm

- Akinbami LJ, Moorman JE, Bailey C, Zahran HS, King M, Johnson CA, et al. Trends in asthma prevalence, health care use, and mortality in the United States, 2001-2010. NCHS Data Brief. 2012 May;(94):1–8.
- Garcia-Aymerich J, Varraso R, Danaei G, Carlos A. Camargo, Hernán MA. Incidence of Adult-onset Asthma After Hypothetical Interventions on Body Mass Index and Physical Activity: An Application of the Parametric G-Formula. Am J Epidemiol. 2013 Oct 9;kwt229.
- 13. Litonjua AA. Dietary Factors and the Development of Asthma. Immunol Allergy Clin North Am. 2008 Aug;28(3):603–ix.
- Black PN, Scragg R. Relationship between serum 25-hydroxyvitamin d and pulmonary function in the third national health and nutrition examination survey\*. CHEST J. 2005 Dec 1;128(6):3792–8.
- 15. Trabelsi Y, Pariès J, Harrabi I, Zbidi A, Tabka Z, Richalet JP, et al. Factors affecting the development of lung function in Tunisian children. Am J Hum Biol. 2008;20(6):716–25.
- Borrego LM, Stocks J, Almeida I, Stanojevic S, Antunes J, Leiria-Pinto P, et al. Bronchodilator responsiveness using spirometry in healthy and asthmatic preschool children. Arch Dis Child. 2013 Feb;98(2):112–7.
- Vieth R. Why "Vitamin D" is not a hormone, and not a synonym for 1,25dihydroxy-vitamin D, its analogs or deltanoids. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 2004 May;89–90:571–3.
- Akbar N, Zacharek M. Vitamin D: immunomodulation of asthma, allergic rhinitis, and chronic rhinosinusitis. [Miscellaneous Article]. Curr Opin Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg June 2011. 2011;19(3):224–8.
- 19. Houghton LA, Vieth R. The case against ergocalciferol (vitamin D2) as a vitamin supplement. Am J Clin Nutr. 2006 Oct 1;84(4):694–7.
- 20. Holick MF. Vitamin D Deficiency. N Engl J Med. 2007;357(3):266–81.
- 21. Litonjua AA. Fat-soluble vitamins and atopic disease: what is the evidence? Proc Nutr Soc. 2012;71(01):67–74.
- 22. Heaney RP. Vitamin D in Health and Disease. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2008 Sep 1;3(5):1535–41.

- 23. Holick MF. Environmental factors that influence the cutaneous production of vitamin D. Am J Clin Nutr. 1995 Mar 1;61(3):638S–645S.
- Holick MF. Sunlight and vitamin D for bone health and prevention of autoimmune diseases, cancers, and cardiovascular disease. Am J Clin Nutr. 2004 Dec 1;80(6):1678S–1688S.
- Greene-Finestone LS, Berger C, Groh M de, Hanley DA, Hidiroglou N, Sarafin K, et al. 25-Hydroxyvitamin D in Canadian adults: biological, environmental, and behavioral correlates. Osteoporos Int. 2011 May 1;22(5):1389–99.
- 26. Holick MF. The Vitamin D Deficiency Pandemic: a Forgotten Hormone Important for Health. Public Health Rev. 32(No 1):267–83.
- 27. Holick MF, Chen TC. Vitamin D deficiency: a worldwide problem with health consequences. Am J Clin Nutr. 2008 Apr 1;87(4):1080S–1086S.
- 28. Rajakumar K, Greenspan SL, Thomas SB, Holick MF. SOLAR Ultraviolet Radiation AND Vitamin D. Am J Public Health. 2007 Oct;97(10):1746–54.
- 29. Plum LA, DeLuca HF. Vitamin D, disease and therapeutic opportunities. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2010 Dec;9(12):941–55.
- 30. Kennel KA, Drake MT, Hurley DL. Vitamin D Deficiency in Adults: When to Test and How to Treat. Mayo Clin Proc. 2010 Aug;85(8):752–8.
- 31. Lange NE, Litonjua A, Hawrylowicz CM, Weiss S. Vitamin D, the immune system and asthma. Expert Rev Clin Immunol. 2009 Nov;5(6):693–702.
- Lai JKC, Lucas RM, Banks E, Ponsonby A-L, Group AI. Variability in vitamin D assays impairs clinical assessment of vitamin D status. Intern Med J. 2012;42(1):43–50.
- 33. Farrell C-JL, Martin S, McWhinney B, Straub I, Williams P, Herrmann M. State-of-the-Art Vitamin D Assays: A Comparison of Automated Immunoassays with Liquid Chromatography–Tandem Mass Spectrometry Methods. Clin Chem. 2012 Mar 1;58(3):531–42.
- 34. Herr C, Greulich T, Koczulla RA, Meyer S, Zakharkina T, Branscheidt M, et al. The role of vitamin D in pulmonary disease: COPD, asthma, infection, and cancer. Respir Res. 2011 Mar 18;12(1):31.
- 35. Abuzeid WM, Akbar NA, Zacharek MA. Vitamin D and chronic rhinitis: Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol. 2012 Feb;12(1):13–7.
- Hughes DA, Norton R. Vitamin D and respiratory health. Clin Exp Immunol. 2009 Oct;158(1):20–5.
- Agrawal T, Gupta GK, Agrawal DK. Vitamin D supplementation reduces airway hyperresponsiveness and allergic airway inflammation in a murine model. Clin Exp Allergy. 2013;43(6):672–83.
- Agrawal T, Gupta GK, Agrawal DK. Calcitriol Decreases Expression of Importin ?3 and Attenuates RelA Translocation in Human Bronchial Smooth Muscle Cells. J Clin Immunol. 2012 Oct;32(5):1093–103.
- White JH. Vitamin D Signaling, Infectious Diseases, and Regulation of Innate Immunity. Infect Immun. 2008 Sep 1;76(9):3837–43.
- Youssef DA, Miller CW, El-Abbassi AM, Cutchins DC, Cutchins C, Grant WB, et al. Antimicrobial implications of vitamin D. Dermatoendocrinol. 2011;3(4):220–9.
- Schrumpf JA, van Sterkenburg MAJA, Verhoosel RM, Zuyderduyn S, Hiemstra PS. Interleukin 13 Exposure Enhances Vitamin D-Mediated Expression of the Human Cathelicidin Antimicrobial Peptide 18/LL-37 in Bronchial Epithelial Cells. Infect Immun. 2012 Dec;80(12):4485–94.
- 42. Wjst M, Dold S. Genes, factor X, and allergens: what causes allergic diseases? Allergy. 1999;54(7):757–9.
- 43. Litonjua AA, Weiss ST. Is vitamin D deficiency to blame for the asthma epidemic? J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2007 Nov;120(5):1031–5.
- 44. Gupta A, Sjoukes A, Richards D, Banya W, Hawrylowicz C, Bush A, et al. Relationship between Serum Vitamin D, Disease Severity, and Airway Remodeling in Children with Asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2011 Dec 15;184(12):1342–9.
- Sutherland ER, Goleva E, Jackson LP, Stevens AD, Leung DYM. Vitamin D Levels, Lung Function, and Steroid Response in Adult Asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2010 Apr;181(7):699–704.

- Bener A, Ehlayel MS, Tulic MK, Hamid Q. Vitamin D Deficiency as a Strong Predictor of Asthma in Children. Int Arch Allergy Immunol. 2012;157(2):168–75.
- Alyasin S, Momen T, Kashef S, Alipour A, Amin R. The Relationship Between Serum 25 Hydroxy Vitamin D Levels and Asthma in Children. Allergy Asthma Immunol Res. 2011 Oct;3(4):251–5.
- Van Oeffelen A a. M, Bekkers MBM, Smit HA, Kerkhof M, Koppelman GH, Haveman-Nies A, et al. Serum micronutrient concentrations and childhood asthma: the PIAMA birth cohort study. Pediatr Allergy Immunol. 2011;22(8):784–93.
- Urashima M, Segawa T, Okazaki M, Kurihara M, Wada Y, Ida H. Randomized trial of vitamin D supplementation to prevent seasonal influenza A in schoolchildren. Am J Clin Nutr. 2010 May 1;91(5):1255–60.
- 50. Krstić G. Asthma Prevalence Associated with Geographical Latitude and Regional Insolation in the United States of America and Australia. PLoS ONE. 2011 Apr 8;6(4):e18492.
- Lewis E, Fernandez C, Nella A, Hopp R, Gallagher JC, Casale TB. Relationship of 25-hydroxyvitamin D and asthma control in children. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2012 Apr;108(4):281–2.
- Dobak J, Grzybowski J, Liu FT, Landon B, Dobke M. 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 increases collagen production in dermal fibroblasts. J Dermatol Sci. 1994 Aug;8(1):18–24.
- 53. Afzal S, Lange P, Bojesen SE, Freiberg JJ, Nordestgaard BG. Plasma 25hydroxyvitamin D, lung function and risk of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Thorax. 2013 Aug 1; thoraxjnl–2013–203682.
- Berry DJ, Hesketh K, Power C, Hyppönen E. Vitamin D status has a linear association with seasonal infections and lung function in British adults. Br J Nutr. 2011;106(09):1433–40.
- 55. El-Shafey BI, El-Srougy HA. Does serum 25 hydroxy vitamin D level play a role in COPD? Egypt J Chest Dis Tuberc [Internet]. [cited 2013 Nov 17]; Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0422763813002136

- Zarogoulidis P, Porpodis K, Domvri K, Milonaki E, Primikiri S, Gouleka A, et al. Vitamin D in asthma and future perspectives. Drug Des Devel Ther. 2013 Sep;1003.
- 57. Algert CS, Bowen JR, Lain SL, Allen HD, Vivian-Taylor JM, Roberts CL. Pregnancy exposures and risk of childhood asthma admission in a population birth cohort. Pediatr Allergy Immunol. 2011;22(8):836–42.
- Rothers J, Wright AL, Stern DA, Halonen M, Camargo Jr. CA. Cord blood 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels are associated with aeroallergen sensitization in children from Tucson, Arizona. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2011 Nov;128(5):1093–1099.e5.
- Gale CR, Robinson SM, Harvey NC, Javaid MK, Jiang B, Martyn CN, et al. Maternal vitamin D status during pregnancy and child outcomes. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2007 Feb 21;62(1):68–77.
- 60. Erkkola M, Kaila M, Nwaru BI, Kronberg-Kippilä C, Ahonen S, Nevalainen J, et al. Maternal vitamin D intake during pregnancy is inversely associated with asthma and allergic rhinitis in 5-year-old children. Clin Exp Allergy. 2009;39(6):875–82.
- 61. Bäck O, Blomquist HKS, Hernell O, Stenberg B. Does vitamin D intake during infancy promote the development of atopic allergy? Acta Derm Venereol. 2009;89(1):28–32.
- 62. Weaver CM, Fleet JC. Vitamin D requirements: current and future. Am J Clin Nutr. 2004 Dec 1;80(6):1735S–1739S.
- 63. Hill KM, McCabe GP, McCabe LD, Gordon CM, Abrams SA, Weaver CM. An Inflection Point of Serum 25-Hydroxyvitamin D for Maximal Suppression of Parathyroid Hormone Is Not Evident from Multi-Site Pooled Data in Children and Adolescents12. J Nutr. 2010 Nov;140(11):1983–8.
- 64. Food and nutrition board NRC. Recommended Dietary Allowances [Internet]. Washington, D.C: National Academy press; 1989 [cited 2013 Nov 15]. Available from: http://www.nap.edu/openbook.php?record\_id=1349&page=R10
- 65. Institue of Medicine (U.S) S committee on the SE of DRI. Dietary Reference Intakes for Calcium, Phosphorus, Magnesium, Vitamin D, and Fluoride [Internet]. National Academy press; 1997 [cited 2013 Nov 15]. Available from: http://www.nap.edu/openbook.php?record\_id=5776&page=R2

- 66. IOM (Institute of Medicine). Dietary Reference Intakes for Calcium and Vitamin D [Internet]. Washington, DC: The National Academic Press; 2011 [cited 2013 Oct 21]. Available from: http://www.nap.edu/catalog.php?record\_id=13050
- Holick MF, Binkley NC, Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Gordon CM, Hanley DA, Heaney RP, et al. Evaluation, Treatment, and Prevention of Vitamin D Deficiency: an Endocrine Society Clinical Practice Guideline. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2011 Jul 1;96(7):1911–30.
- 68. Tuohimaa P, Tenkanen L, Ahonen M, Lumme S, Jellum E, Hallmans G, et al. Both high and low levels of blood vitamin D are associated with a higher prostate cancer risk: A longitudinal, nested case-control study in the Nordic countries. Int J Cancer. 2004;108(1):104–8.
- Hypponen E, Sovio U, Wjst M, Patel S, Pekkanen J, Hartikainen A-L, et al. Infant Vitamin D Supplementation and Allergic Conditions in Adulthood: Northern Finland Birth Cohort 1966. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2004;1037(1):84– 95.
- Pike KC, Inskip HM, Robinson S, Lucas JS, Cooper C, Harvey NC, et al. Maternal late-pregnancy serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D in relation to childhood wheeze and atopic outcomes. Thorax. 2012 Jun 15;67(11):950–6.
- 71. Gergen PJ, Teach SJ, Mitchell HE, Freishtat RF, Calatroni A, Matsui E, et al. Lack of a relation between serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentrations and asthma in adolescents. Am J Clin Nutr. 2013 Jun 1;97(6):1228–34.
- Montero-Arias F, Sedó-Mejía G, Ramos-Esquivel A. Vitamin D Insufficiency and Asthma Severity in Adults From Costa Rica. Allergy Asthma Immunol Res. 2013;5(5):283.
- Stolzenberg-Solomon RZ, Jacobs EJ, Arslan AA, Qi D, Patel AV, Helzlsouer KJ, et al. Circulating 25-Hydroxyvitamin D and Risk of Pancreatic Cancer. Am J Epidemiol. 2010 Jul 1;172(1):81–93.
- Dror Y, Giveon SM, Hoshen M, Feldhamer I, Balicer RD, Feldman BS. Vitamin D levels for preventing acute coronary syndrome and mortality: evidence of a nonlinear association. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2013 May;98(5):2160–7.
- 75. Han SS, Kim M, Kim H, Lee SM, Oh YJ, Lee JP, et al. Non-Linear Relationship between Serum 25-Hydroxyvitamin D and Hemoglobin in

Korean Females: The Korean National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2010–2011. PLoS ONE. 2013 Aug 28;8(8):e72605.

- Koning L de, Henne D, Hemmelgarn BR, Woods P, Naugler C. Non-linear relationship between serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentration and subsequent hip fracture. Osteoporos Int. 2013 Jul 1;24(7):2061–5.
- Yu X, Zhang J, Yan C, Shen X. Relationships between serum 25hydroxyvitamin D and quantitative ultrasound bone mineral density in 0– 6year old children. Bone. 2013 Mar;53(1):306–10.
- Narotsky DL. The Relationship Between Serum 25-Hydroxyvitamin D And Peripheral Arterial Disease. IMpact Newsletter; [cited 2013 Nov 29]. Available from: http://www.acponline.org/medical\_students/impact/archives/2013/09/abstrac ts/

## Chapter 2 Association of vitamin D with respiratory outcomes in Canadian children

#### 2.1 Introduction:

Asthma is the most common chronic condition affecting children in developed countries (1, 2). Asthma prevalence has been increasing during recent decades in many parts of the world (3- 6). It is likely that this increase in asthma prevalence is influenced by many environmental (4) and behavioral factors (7-9).

Vitamin D has been recognized to play an important role in innate and adaptive immune responses for some years (10). It has been shown to be a potent stimulator of mechanisms associated with pathogen elimination (11). Recent animal studies have raised the possibility of vitamin D exerting some of its effect on inflammation and autoimmune diseases through the regulation of Th17 cells (a T-cell lineage distinct from Th1 or Th2 cells) (10). Initially, Bäck *et al.*, demonstrated a significant association of vitamin D with asthma related parameters, including lung function, from a representative adult population from the US (8). However, despite ongoing research the evidence remains conflicting with studies reporting protective effects (12-14), adverse effects (8, 15 16), as well as an absence of any effect (17, 18) of vitamin D on asthma. There are also suggestions that maternal vitamin D status (19-22), and early infant supplementation (8, 15) may influence the early programming of the immune system and so the development of asthma and allergic diseases in offspring.

A committee of the Institute of Medicine (IOM) reported that a serum vitamin D level of 50 nmol/L or more for skeletal health, and higher values were

not consistently associated with increased health benefit (23). For extraskelatal outcomes such as cancer, cardivascular disease, diabetes and autoimmune disorder, no recommendations were made by the committee due to the inconsistent and inconclusive evidence (23). In the conclusion of manuscript the authors reported "serum concentrations of 25(OH)D above 30 ng/ml (75 nmol/L) are not consistently associated with increased benefit, and risks have been identified for some outcomes at 25(OH)D levels above 50 ng/ml (125 nmol/L)". Interestingly, the relationship between at 25(OH)D levels with some of the extraskeletal oucomes has been reported to be U-shaped with increased risk at both low and high levels of 25(OH)D (24). Only a few studies published to date have investigated the possibility of a non-linear relationship between 25(OH)D levels and respiratory outcomes. In this study, the data from the Canadian Health Measures Survey (CHMS) were used to further examine whether there might be a non-linear relationship between serum 25(OH)D concentration and current wheeze, ever asthma and lung function parameters in children of ages 6 to 12 years.

#### 2.2 Methods:

The CHMS was developed by Statistics Canada in partnership with Health Canada and the Public Health Agency of Canada (25). It was conducted in the provinces of British Columbia, Alberta, Ontario, Quebec and New Brunswick. A detailed description of data collection in CHMS is given elsewhere (26). Briefly, the participants were chosen using a multi-stage sampling process with initial sampling of sites based on population size at the geographic region and census metropolitan areas, followed by random sampling of dwellings and then stratified sampling of participants within the dwelling based on age-groups. The survey included two main components: an in-home interview and a clinic visit. The inhome interview gathered information related to personal and family characteristics. Upon completion of the household interview, participants were asked to attend a mobile examination centre (MEC) (27). The measurements taken at this centre included a questionnaire, anthropometry and spirometry. Blood samples were also taken at the MEC for laboratory analysis.

Of the 7,478 individuals who agreed to participate, 6,604 (88.3%) completed the household questionnaire and 5,604 (84.9%) attended the MEC. Of those attending the MEC 5,373 (95.9%) provided a blood sample. After excluding adolescents and adults, a total of 1,030 children aged 6 to 12 years had vitamin D measurements and consequently could be considered for this report. Of the 1,030 children, 951 had valid lung function measurements. The study was approved by the University of Alberta Health Research Ethics Board.

In the CHMS, the presence of current wheeze was established from the question "Has your child had wheezing or whistling in the chest in the last 12

months?" from the clinic questionnaire. The presence of ever asthma was determined from the question "We are interested in long-term conditions which are expected to last or have already lasted 6 months or more and that have been diagnosed by a health professional: Do you have asthma?". Spirometric measurements of lung function comprised forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV<sub>1</sub>), forced vital capacity (FVC), FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC ratio, and forced expiratory flow between 25% and 75% of forced vital capacity (FEF<sub>25%-75%</sub>). Spirometry was performed by a trained technician using Respironics KoKo spirometer (PDS Instrumentation, Louisville, CO) according to the American Thoracic Society guidelines. All spirometry results were reviewed by an external reviewer to ensure the quality of the measurements. Predicted lung function values used for bivariate analyses were based on the equations proposed by Corey et al. for 6 to 7 years (28) and Hankinson et al. for 8 years and older (29).

Venous blood was drawn using routine methods and stored at -20°C in a freezer within the MEC laboratory. Subjects with significant relevant comorbidities (e.g. hemophilia, significant edema, burned or scarred arms) were excluded. Frozen samples of blood were sent weekly to the Health Canada reference laboratory in Ottawa, where the serum 25(OH)D was measured using the LIAISON 25-hydroxyvitamin D total assay (Diasorin Ltd, Stillwater, MN). The lower and upper detection limits were 10 nmol/L and 375 nmol/L, respectively.

#### 2.3 Statistical analysis

Age, weight, height and lung function were considered as continuous variables. The 25(OH)D levels were divided into three categories : 13.7 to  $\leq$  49 nmol/L (low), 50 to  $\leq$  74 nmol/L (moderate) and  $\geq$ 75 to  $\leq$  195.1 nmol/L (high) where 13.7 nmol/L and 195.1 nmol/L are the minimum and maximum values of the 25(OH)D levels . Four categories based on the quartiles of 25(OH)D levels  $(13.7 \text{ to} \le 57.9 \text{ nmol/L}, 58.0 \text{ to} \le 72.5 \text{ nmol/L}, 72.6 \text{ to} \le 86.8 \text{ nmol/L}, 72.6 \text{ to} \le$ 86.8 nmol/L) were also considered for comparison with the results obtained with three categories. . The body mass index was categorized into normal weight, overweight and obesity using the CDC classification. Other factors included in the statistical analyses were racial origin (Caucasian or not), whether breastfed as an infant, family history of asthma, household income, number of children over 12 years of age at home, duration of weekly physical activity, duration of daily sun exposure, frequency of use of sunscreen, frequency of daily consumption of milk, duration of daily sedentary activities, use of gas furnace, use of electric heating system, and study period (summer and winter).

Analysis of variance and Pearson chi-square tests were used to determine the significance of the association between 25(OH)D levels and outcome measures (lung function parameters current wheeze and ever asthma). Multiple logistic regression analysis was used to test the association between 25(OH)D levels, and current wheeze and ever asthma after controlling for other factors. Multiple linear regression analysis was used to determine the relationship between the 25(OH)D levels and lung function controlling for age, sex, weight, height,

and height-squared. Interactions between vitamin D level and other covariates were examined in all the models. Survey design weight and bootstrap weights provided by Statistics Canada were incorporated in all statistical analyses. Analyses were conducted using STATA statistical software (*Stata Statistical Software: Release 12*. College Station, TX: StataCorp LP). The package *mgcv* in R (R Core Team, 2013) was used to conduct logistic regression analysis using the generalized additive model (GAM) procedure (30) to explore the non-linear relationship between 25(OH) levels, considered as a continuous variable and current wheeze (dichotomous outcome). Cubic regression splines was used as the smooth function in GAM and the unbiased risk estimator score was used to determine the most appropriate model among models with varying number of knots and degrees of smoothness.

#### 2.4 Results

The mean age of the children included in the study was 9.1 years. The prevalence of current wheeze and ever asthma was 7.4% and 10.3%, respectively. Among the children with ever asthma, 53.4% children had current wheeze. Among the children reporting current wheeze, 65.9% reported less than 4 episodes of wheeze while 34.1% reported 4 or more episodes of wheeze in the last 12 months.

As shown in Table 2.1, the proportions of children in the low, moderate, and high 25(OH)D categories were 15.6%, 37.5%, and 46.9%, respectively. The prevalence of current wheeze was 11.4%, 4.1% and 7.7% in the low, moderate and high 25(OH)D categories, respectively. Children in the low and high 25(OH)D categories were more likely to report current wheeze in comparison to those children in the moderate category. Children with a family history of asthma had a significantly greater prevalence of current wheeze (16.0%) than those without a family history of asthma (5.0%). Use of gas furnace-heating and electric-heating systems had opposite effects on the prevalence of current wheeze with symptom prevalence being higher in homes using a gas furnace-heating system, and lower in homes using electric-heating systems in comparison to homes using other heating systems.

As shown in Table 2.2, the prevalence of ever asthma was 14.5%, 8.2% and 10.2% in the low, moderate and high 25(OH)D categories, respectively. Children in the low and high 25(OH)D categories were more likely to have a report of ever asthma in comparison to those children in the moderate category.

Children with a family history of asthma had a significantly greater prevalence of ever asthma (25.9%) than those without a family history of asthma (5.6%).

The factors included in the Tables 2.1 and 2.2 were initially considered for the multiple logistic regression analysis of current wheeze and ever asthma, respectively. The results from the final multiple logistic regression of current wheeze or ever asthma are shown in Table 2.3. After controlling for confounders, children in both the low and high 25(OH)D categories had an increased odds of reporting current wheeze in comparison to those in the moderate category (OR: 3.26; 95% CI: 1.16-9.17 for low vs. moderate and OR: 2.14; 95% CI: 1.07-4.28, for high vs. moderate). Children in the low 25(OH)D category had an increased odds of ever asthma in comparison to those in the moderate category (OR: 1.86, 95% CI: 1.15, 3.01). Children in the high 25(OH)D category had a non-significant increased risk of ever asthma in comparison to the moderate category (OR: 1.46, 95% CI: 0.76, 2.80).

The mean values of age, height, weight and lung function outcomes were significantly different between the three 25(OH)D categories (Table 2.4). The mean percent predicted FEV<sub>1</sub>, FVC, FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC ratio, and FEF<sub>25%-75%</sub> were greatest in the moderate 25(OH)D category in comparison to the low and high 25(OH)D categories but the differences between categories were not statistically significant. The mean values of age, height and weight were not significantly different between children with and without current wheeze (data not shown).

Table 2.5 displays the relationship between 25(OH)D levels and FEV<sub>1</sub>, FVC, FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC ratio, and FEF<sub>25%-75%</sub> after adjusting for age, sex, race

(Caucasian or not), height, height-squared (for  $FEV_1$  and FVC) and weight. The interaction effect between 25(OH)D levels and children's age was significant in the relationship of 25(OH)D levels with FVC (p=0.02) and FEV<sub>1</sub> (p=0.02). To elucidate the interaction effects, the estimated mean  $FEV_1$  and FVC values were plotted against the children's age, for male Caucasian children with height and weight adjusted to the mean values in Figures 2.1 and 2.2, respectively. Figure 2.1 shows that the increase in  $FEV_1$  with children's age, indicated by the slopes of the fitted lines, was greater in the moderate 25(OH)D category than in the low and high 25(OH)D categories The relationship between  $FEV_1$  and age for females and for other race categories was similar to Figure 2.1 except for a shift in the intercepts. As shown in Figure 2.2, the results for FVC were similar to those observed for  $FEV_1$  with the slopes greater in the moderate 25(OH)D category than in the low and high 25(OH)D categories. After controlling for the factors in Table 2.5, mean  $FEV_1/FVC$  ratio was greater for the low and high 25(OH)D categories than the moderate category with the difference being statistically significant only between moderate and high 25(OH)D categories. As shown in Table 2.5, there was a significant interaction between weight and 25(OH)D categories in the regression model for FEF<sub>25%-75%</sub> with the increase in FEF<sub>25%-75%</sub> with children's weight being greater in the moderate 25(OH)D category than in the low and high 25(OH)D categories.

In the GAM analysis, the 25(OH)D level was considered as a continuous variable and its relationship with current wheeze was examined. To characterize the interpretation of the results from GAM procedure, the predicted risk of current

wheeze was plotted in Figure 2.3 against the 25(OH)D levels for a male child of 9 years with a positive family history of asthma and absence of electric heating at home. After controlling for the factors considered previously in Table 2.3, there was an increased risk of current wheeze for 25(OH)D levels from 13.7 nmol/L to about 50 nmol/L, followed by minimal risk of current wheeze until about 75 nmol/L and then an increase in the risk of current wheeze until from 75 nmol/L to about 100 nmol/L. As indicated by the wide 95% confidence intervals in Figure 3, the risk estimates were not stable above 100 nmol/L due to the small number of observations. When four categories were considered using the 25(OH)D level quartiles, relative to the second category (58.0 to  $\leq$  72.5 nmol/L), odds ratios of current wheeze were 2.75 (95% CI: 1.20, 6.31; p=0.02) in the first category (13.7 to  $\leq$  57.9 nmol/L), 3.02 (95% CI: 1.26,7.25; p=0.18) in the third category (72.6 to  $\leq$  86.8 nmol/L ) and 1.59 (95% CI: 0.85,2.98; p=0.13) in the fourth category (86.9 to  $\leq$  195.1 nmol/L) after controlling for the factors considered in Table 2.3.

#### 2.5 Discussion

In this study of children of ages 6 to 12 years, a U-shaped relationship was observed between 25(OH)D levels and current wheeze and lung function, indicators of current respiratory health. The 25(OH)D levels below 50 nmol/L, and above 75 nmol/L were both associated with a greater than two fold increased risk of current wheeze and reduced lung function. The significant interaction effect between age and 25(OH)D levels on FVC and FEV<sub>1</sub> indicated that the rate of changes in lung function with children's age was dependent on25(OH)D levels, with increases being greatest in the moderate 25(OH)D category (50 to 74 nmol/L). The U-shaped relationship was also observed between 25(OH)D levels and ever asthma but the odds ratio for the high 25(OH)D category was not statistically significant.

One of the conclusions in the IOM report was that 25(OH)D levels above 75 nmol/L were not consistently associated with increased benefit and the risks have been identified for some outcomes at 25(OH)D levels above 125 nmol/L (23). Based on this report, three categories were chosen, 13.7 to 49 nmol/L (low), 50 to 74 nmol/L (moderate), and 75 to 195.1 nmol/L (high) in this study and found an increased risk for adverse respiratory health outcomes in low and high categories in comparison to the moderate category. This U-shaped non-linear relationship between 25(OH)D levels and current wheeze was further examined in two independent analyses by considering 25(OH)D levels as a continuous variable and a four-level categorical variable based on quartiles, respectively. The results from these analyses provided further support to the findings that lower and

higher 25(OH)D levels were associated with increased risk of current wheeze in comparison to the moderate 25(OH)D levels. A birth cohort study from Tucson, Arizona similarly found a non-linear relationship between cord blood 25(OH)D levels and allergic outcomes. Relative to the reference category (50 to 74.9 nmol/L), 25(OH)D levels < 50 nmol/L and  $\geq$  100 nmol/L were associated with increased total IgE and inhalant allergen-specific IgE measured at ages 1 to 5 years in a longitudinal analysis , but no association was observed with asthma prevalence at 5 years (16). In a study from Southampton, UK, increased maternal 25(OH)D levels (> 75 nmol/L) during late pregnancy had an increased risk of childhood eczema at 9 months and asthma at 9 years (21).

The findings from previous studies have not been consistent in terms of characterizing the relationship between 25(OH)D levels and respiratory outcomes. Similar to the finding in this study, several studies have suggested lower 25(OH)D levels are associated with a higher risk of asthma. In a study of asthmatic children age 6 to 14 years from Costa Rica, circulating levels of vitamin D were inversely associated with hospitalization rates for asthma, bronchodilator responsiveness, and allergic markers such as IgE levels and eosinophil counts (12). In another study of children below 16 years from Qatar, those with asthma had lower serum vitamin D levels than the children without asthma (14). The PIAMA cohort study from Netherlands reported a more complex age-dependent association between serum vitamin D levels and asthma in two independent groups of children of ages 4 and 8 years (13). Serum vitamin D levels measured at age 4 had an inverse

association with asthma at ages 4 and 8 and vitamin D levels measured at age 8 had a positive association with asthma at age 8 (13).

In a prospective pilot study examining whether increased serum 25(OH)D levels, affected asthma control in children of ages 6 to 17 years with chronic persistent asthma, no significant effect was observed on asthma control test score or spirometry measurements (18). In contrast, in a Polish prospective study of children with newly diagnosed asthma, vitamin D supplementation improved the control of asthma exacerbations triggered by acute respiratory infections (31). A Swedish birth cohort study reported that a higher intake of vitamin D during infancy was associated with an increased cumulative incidence of atopic dermatitis, allergic rhinitis and asthma from infancy to 6 years (8). A further study of a birth cohort form the USA with early infant vitamin D supplementation also noted an increased risk of asthma by 3 years of age among black children (15).

The results from the studies examining the relationship between vitamin D levels and lung function have also not been consistent. A positive significant linear relationship was observed between predicted  $FEV_1$  and  $FEV_1/FVC$  ratio and 25(OH)D levels in asthmatic children in a study conducted in Iran (32). In this study of 50 asthmatic children of ages 6 to 18 years, 25(OH)D levels were also categorized using the cut-offs similar to this study but a continuous scale was used for 25(OH)D levels in the multivariate analyses reported in the manuscript (32). In a study examining the serum 25(OH)D levels and exercise induced bronchoconstriction in children with intermittent asthma, a positive relationship was observed between serum 25(OH)D levels and FVC, and FEV<sub>1</sub>

(33). The mean 25(OH)D level was significantly lower in children with a positive response to the exercise challenge, as indicated by a change of 10% or greater in  $FEV_1$ , than those with a negative challenge (33). There was no significant association between 25(OH)D levels and lung function in children using regular corticosteroids, who were part of a multi-center childhood asthma management program (34).

There may also be some confusion in interpreting these studies because serum 25(OH)D consists of both the more potent 25(OH)D<sub>3</sub> and the less potent 25(OH)D<sub>2</sub> (35). In the ALSPAC prospective birth cohort study from South West England, 25(OH)D<sub>2</sub> levels measured at the mean age 9.8 years were associated with a lower risk of wheezing at the mean age 15.5 years while 25(OH)D<sub>3</sub> levels were associated with an increased risk of wheezing (36). In addition, 25(OH)D<sub>2</sub> levels were weakly positively associated with FVC and FEV<sub>1</sub>, while no association was found with 25(OH)D<sub>3</sub> (36).

The reasons for these inconsistent findings in the studies examining the relationship between 25(OH)D levels and respiratory outcomes in children are unclear but they might be related with the age group of children considered and differences between the assays used to measure the serum 25(OH)D. In this study, LIAISON assay, an automated chemiluminescent immunoassay, was used to measure serum 25(OH)D. Liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry is considered as the gold standard for measuring 25(OH)D levels. The use of different assays might well have contributed to the observed inconsistencies between the studies (37, 38). However, a recent study reported that the agreement

between LIAISON assay and liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry for measuring 25(OH)D levels was excellent and superior in comparison to other automated immunoassays that are currently used in laboratories (39).

Vitamin D plays an active role in regulating specific phases of human immunity and has been shown to be associated with innate and adaptive immunity. The vitamin D receptor (VDR) gene and the gene for 1 $\alpha$ -hydroxylase (CYP27B1) have been shown to be induced following activation of toll-like receptor 2/1(TLR2/1) gene, the principal pathogen recognition receptor for Mycobacterium tuberculosis (40). However, the role of CYP27B1 gene in the expression of VDR gene following activation of toll-like receptor 2/1(TLR2/1) gene is not very clear (10).

The possibility of Vitamin D acting as regulator of Th17 cells, which have the capacity to synthesize the pro-inflammatory cytokine interleukin-17 (IL-17) (41), has been suggested from animal models of gastrointestinal inflammatory disease (colitis) in which treatment with 1, 25(OH)D<sub>3</sub> was shown to reduce the IL-17 expression (42). A recent review article proposed asthma as "a chronic disease of the innate and adaptive immune systems responding to viruses and allergens," (43) providing the relevance for examining relationships between vitamin D and respiratory outcomes in this study.

Other potential mechanisms of action by which vitamin D may protect against asthma include modification of the expression of TNF- $\alpha$  cytokine (44), induction of T-reg cells and expression of inhibitory cytokines (IL-10,TGF- $\beta$ ). and modification of control of CD4-positive T-lymphocytes (45,46). Vitamin D

might feasibly also increase the risk of asthma exacerbations through mechanisms such as increasing allergen-induced T-cell proliferation, IL-4, IL-12 cytokine levels, and serum IgE production (47). Measured serum 25(OH)D level includes contributions from both cutaneous production and dietary intake (e.g.: fortified milk) (2, 13). The half-life of vitamin D is approximately three weeks and is affected by serum calcium levels (48-50). Cutaneous synthesis of vitamin D is dependent on skin pigmentation, age, behavioral and lifestyle factors (38, 51). The study reported in this manuscript was conducted in Canada which is located in the northern hemisphere (43 °N latitude, and above) (52), with children living in some of the data collection sites receiving sun light only for a short duration, as little as 3 hours per day during the winter months (53). Consequently very limited cutaneous vitamin D synthesis occurs during this period (54,55). Seasonal variation of serum vitamin D may vary by 10-25 nmol/l between winter and summer months (56). However, season of blood collection, skin pigmentation, use of sunscreen, and duration of daily sun exposure were not significant factors in this study. As reported in other studies, the confounding effect of these variables may be minimal among children (57, 58).

One of the strengths of this study was that it was conducted in a large population and adequately powered to detect the association in age–specific groups. In addition, it had objective measures for lung function and serum vitamin D levels. Nonetheless this study did have some limitations. Due to the crosssectional study design, reverse causality cannot be excluded. In addition, as the data were collected from 15 sites in 4 provinces, the degrees of freedom available

for statistical analysis was 11 which restricted the number of variables chosen for the final regression models.

In summary, the observed association in these data between vitamin D levels with current wheeze and lung function supports a U-shaped dose-response relationship. Preventative strategies targeting children are warranted to avoid highly prevalent vitamin D deficiency. Whether advice is need to avoid vitamin D over provision remains more controversial but these results suggest that may be so. In conclusion, improved guidelines regarding vitamin D in childhood are needed, and monitoring of serum vitamin D level may enhance management of respiratory conditions in children.



Figure 2.1 Relationship between forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV<sub>1</sub>) with children's age for the vitamin D categories (low:  $\leq$  49 nmol/L, moderate: 50 to  $\leq$ 74 nmol/L and high:  $\geq$ 75 nmol/L) for male Caucasian children with height and weight adjusted at the mean values.



Figure 2.2 Relationship between forced vital capacity (FVC) with children's age for the vitamin D categories (low:  $\leq$  49 nmol/L, moderate: 50 to  $\leq$ 74 nmol/L and high:  $\geq$ 75 nmol/L) for male Caucasian children with height and weight adjusted at the mean values.



Figure 2.3 Relationship between predicted risk of current wheeze with serum vitamin D level from generalized additive model. The predicted risk is plotted for a male child at age 9 years with positive family history of asthma and absence of electric heating at home.

	Distribution of	Proportion of		
	characteristics	current wheeze		
	in the sample	within factor	Unadjusted	
Factors	(%)	(%)	OR (95% CI)	p-value*
Vitamin D level (nmol/L)				0.08
$\leq$ 49	15.6	11.4	3.02 (1.04, 8.78)	
50-74	37.5	4.1	1.0	
≥75	46.9	7.7	1.96 (0.91, 4.22)	
Sex				0.38
Female	47.5	6.7	1.00	
Male	52.5	8.1	1.21 (0.75, 1.98)	
Body mass index				0.37
Under or normal weight	67.8	7.9	1.00	
Overweight or Obese	32.2	5.8	0.72 (0.32, 1.63)	
Caucasian				0.99
Yes	77.9	7.5	1.00	
No	22.1	7.4	0.99 (0.19, 5.21)	
No. of children > 12 years				0.004
≤1 <sup>°</sup>	86.6	6.2	1.00	
$\ge 2$	13.4	15.5	2.79 (1.38, 5.64)	
Family history of asthma				0.002
No	76.3	4.9	1.00	
Yes	23.7	15.9	3.64 (1.67, 7.95)	
Household income				0.83
Middle	27.2	6.8	1.00	
Low	26.9	7.1	1.05 (0.31, 3.64)	
High	45.9	8.0	1.21 (0.35, 4.11)	
Smoking inside home				0.25
No	88.6	6.9	1.00	
Yes	11.4	11.3	1.71 (0.41, 7.17)	
Use of gas furnace				0.02
No	39.0	4.3	1.00	
Yes	61.0	9.3	2.28 (1.11, 4.67)	
Use of electric heating				< 0.001
No	71.8	9.3	1.00	
Yes	28.2	2.5	0.25 (0.15, 0.43)	
Region				0.08
Ontario	41.4	8.7	1.00	
Quebec, New Brunswick	28.4	4.5	0.49 (0.25, 0.97)	
British Columbia, Alberta	30.2	8.4	0.96 (0.51, 1.84)	

Table 2.1 Characteristics of the study sample, proportion of current wheeze by factors and odds ratio for the relationship of factors with current wheeze

Season				0.36
Summer	53.2	6.7	1.00	
Winter	46.8	8.2	1.25 (0.74-2.11)	
Daily sun exposure				0.58
1-3 hours	36.3	7.8	1.00	
< 1 hour	11.4	10.5	1.39 (0.22, 8.62)	
>3 hours	52.3	6.5	0.82 (0.39, 1.70)	
Use of sunscreen				0.07
Always/often	66.3	6.4	1.00	
Sometimes	16.7	5.9	0.92 (0.38, 2.23)	
Rarely/never	17.0	11.8	1.96 (1.05, 3.66)	
Daily consumption of milk				0.12
At least once	58.2	5.8	1.00	
Less than once	10.6	13.4	2.52 (0.77, 8.23)	
More than twice	31.2	8.5	1.52 (0.92, 2.51)	
Daily sedentary activities				0.17
0-2 hours	64.9	5.9	1.00	
3-4 hours	23.9	6.9	1.18 (0.66, 2.10)	
5 and above hours	11.1	9.9	1.74 (0.88, 3.44)	

\*p-value from chi-squared test indicating the significant difference in the characteristics between children with and without current wheeze

		Proportion of		
		ever asthma	Unadjusted OR	p-value*
Factor		within factor	(95% CI)	-
Vitamin I	D level (nmol/L)			0.13
	$\leq$ 50	14.5	1.9 (1.27, 2.84)	
	50-75	8.2	1.00	
	$\geq$ 75	10.2	1.28 (0.65, 2.50)	
Sex				0.89
	Female	10.2	1.00	
	Male	10.5	1.03 (0.6, 1.78)	
BMI				0.09
	Under or normal weight	12.6	1.00	
	Overweight/obese	8.6	0.65 (0.39, 1.10)	
Caucasian	1			0.01
	Yes	9.2	1.00	
	No	14.4	1.67 (1.11, 2.50)	
No. of chi	ldren $> 12$ years			0.38
	$\leq 1$	9.7	1.00	
	$\geq 2$	14.0	1.51 (0.43, 5.37)	
Family his	story of asthma			< 0.001
	No	5.6	1.00	
	Yes	25.9	5.94 (3.55, 9.95)	
Househol	d income			0.14
	Middle	8.9	1.00	
	Low	14.3	1.7 (0.78, 3.72)	
	High	9.2	1.03 (0.48, 2.18)	
Smoking	inside home			0.05
	No	9.2	1.00	
	Yes	18.7	2.26 (0.77, 6.66)	
Use of gas	s furnace			0.61
	No	11.0	1.00	
	Yes	9.7	0.88 (0.48, 1.59)	
Use of ele	ectric heating			0.81
	No	10.0	1.00	
	Yes	10.6	1.07 (0.57, 2.02)	
Region				0.87
	Ontario	11.1	1.00	
	Quebec, New Brunswick	9.8	0.87 (0.46, 1.66)	
	British Columbia, Alberta	9.7	0.87 (0.3, 2.48)	

# Table 2.2 Proportion of ever asthma by factors and odds ratio for the relationship of factors with ever asthma

Season			0.03
Summer	8.8	1.00	
Winter	12.0	1.4 (1.00, 1.98)	
Daily sun exposure			0.068
1-3 hour	7.9	1.00	
<1 hour	16.2	2.27 (1.35, 3.84)	
>3 hours	10.7	1.41 (0.79, 2.53)	
Use of sunscreen			0.33
Always / often	9.3	1.00	
Sometimes	9.8	1.06 (0.54, 2.08)	
Rarely / never	13.3	1.51 (0.69, 3.3)	
Daily consumption of milk			0.69
At least once	9.9	1.00	
Less than once	12.6	1.31 (0.42, 4.05)	
More than twice	10.2	1.03 (0.70, 1.53)	
Daily sedentary hours			0.66
0 - 2 hours	9.3	1.00	
3 - 4 hours	8.6	0.91 (0.57, 1.47)	
5 and above	11.7	1.29 (0.36, 4.57)	

\*p-value from chi-squared test indicating the significant difference in the characteristics between children with and without ever asthma

	Current whee	eze	Ever asthma	
	Odds ratio		Odds ratio	
Factors	(95% CI)	p-value	(95% CI)	p-value
Age (yr)	1.10 (0.87, 1.37)	0.38	1.15 (0.97, 1.37)	0.09
Sex				
Female	1.00		1.00	
Male	1.14 (0.67, 1.93)	0.59	0.91 (0.47, 1.77)	0.76
Family history of asthma				
No	1.00		1.00	
Yes	4.09 (1.55, 10.76)	0.008	6.05 (3.62, 10.11)	< 0.001
Number of children > 12 years				
$\leq 1$	1.00		-	
$\geq 2$	2.21 (1.06, 4.57)	0.04	-	
Use of electric heating				
No	1.00		-	
Yes	0.29 (0.14, 0.60)	0.003	-	
Daily sun exposure				
< 1 hours	-		4.2 (2.50, 7.07)	< 0.001
1-3 hours	-		1.00	
>3 hours	-		1.62 (0.93, 2.82)	0.08
Vitamin D level				
$\leq$ 49 nmol/L	3.26 (1.16, 9.17)	0.03	1.86 (1.15, 3.00)	0.02
50-74 nmol/L	1.00		1.00	
$\geq$ 75 nmol/L	2.14 (1.07, 4.28)	0.03	1.46 (0.76, 2.80)	0.22

Table 2.3 Results from the multiple logistic regression of current wheeze and ever asthma with vitamin D levels

	Vitamin D categories			
Factor	$\leq$ 49 nmol/L	50 - 74 nmol/L	$\geq$ 75 nmol/L	
	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	Mean(SD)	p-value*
Age (year)	9.92 (2.85)	9.3 (3.19)	9.0 (3.07)	0.002
Height (cm)	144.73 (20.43)	139.36 (21.95)	137.83 (20.32)	0.002
Weight (kg)	43.58 (24.92)	36.42 (18.71)	34.24 (17.64)	0.004
FVC (L)	2.59 (1.11)	2.43 (1.14)	2.33 (0.96)	0.03
$FEV_1(L)$	2.17 (0.86)	2.05 (0.95)	1.94 (0.77)	0.005
FEV <sub>1</sub> /FVC	0.85 (0.1)	0.85 (0.1)	0.84 (0.09)	0.06
FEF <sub>25%-75%</sub> (L/s)	2.31 (1.07)	2.22 (1.25)	2.01 (1.05)	0.001
Percent predicted FVC	101.9 (18.14)	103.09 (20.22)	102.3 (17.61)	0.45
Percent predicted FEV <sub>1</sub>	98.86 (18.56)	100.89 (20.67)	98.73 (17.99)	0.06
Percent predicted FEV <sub>1</sub> /FVC	96.84 (11.71)	97.8 (11.26)	96.49 (10.69)	0.06

Table 2.4 Distribution of demographic factors and lung function by vitamin D categories

\* p-values are from analyis of variance for comparison between vitamin D categories

Factor	FVC (ml)	$\mathbf{FEV}_{1}(\mathbf{ml})$	<b>FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC</b> (%)	<b>FEF</b> <sub>25%-75%</sub> (ml/s)
	B** (SE)	B** (SE)	B** (SE)	B** (SE)
Age*	68.93 (15.88)¶	52.49 (14.4)‡	-0.197 (0.198)	57.62 (14.2)‡
Sex (ref - Male)	-109.49 (16.06)§	-33.05 (15.85)	2.198 (0.485)¶	103.49 (36.73)†
Caucasian (ref -Yes)	-143.35 (53.05)†	-102.25 (38.6)†	-	-
Height*	27.48 (3.35)§	26.21 (2.94)§	0.08 (0.062)	23.74 (4.22)§
Height2*	0.29 (0.06)¶	0.28 (0.07)‡	-	0.41 (0.14)†
Weight*	12.91 (1.62)§	5.83 (1.94)†	-0.156 (0.061)†	7.69 (5.98)
Vitamin D level				
$\leq$ 49 nmol/L	-73.88 (32.19)†	-59.61 (25.57)†	0.436 (0.793)	-52.27 (57.91)
50-74 nmol/L (ref)	-	-	-	-
$\geq$ 75 nmol/L	-17.88 (21.49)	-47.12 (12.79)‡	-1.46 (0.398)‡	-142.48 (48.86)†
Age and vitamin D level interact	tion			
$\leq$ 49 nmol/L	-26.65 (22.79)	-25.28 (15.35)	-	-
50-74 nmol/L (ref)	-	-	-	-
≥75 nmol/L	-36 (10.32)‡	-29.5 (8.08)‡	-	-
Weight and vitamin D level inte	raction			
$\leq$ 49 nmol/L	-	-	-	-10.26 (3.31)‡
50-74 nmol/L (ref)	-	-	-	-
$\geq$ 75 nmol/L	-	-	-	-8.58 (3.42)†
Intercept	2376.73 (25.66)§	1972.11 (16.58)§	83.974 (0.397)§	2039.94 (44.59)§

Table 2.5 Results from the multiple linear regression analysis of lung function outcomes

\* Variables were centralized

B\*\* (SE) - Regression coefficient (Standard error)

 $\dagger p$ -value  $\leq 0.05$ 

 $p-value \leq 0.01$ 

¶p-value ≤0.001

 $p-value \le 0.0001$ 

### **References:**

- Asthma Fact sheet N°307. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011. Available: <u>www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs307/en/index.html</u> (Accessed 2013 Feb. 5)
- 2. Litonjua AA. Fat-soluble vitamins and atopic disease: what is the evidence? *Proc Nutr Soc* 2012;71:67-74.
- 3. Asher MI, Montefort S, Björkstén B, Lai CK, Strachan DP, Weiland SK, et al. ISAAC Phase Three Study Group. Worldwide time trends in the prevalence of symptoms of asthma, allergic rhinoconjunctivitis, and eczema in childhood: ISAAC Phases One and Three repeat multicountry cross-sectional surveys. *Lancet* 2006;368:733-43.
- 4. Gergen PJ, Weiss KB. The increasing problem of asthma in the United States. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 199;146:823-4.
- 5. The International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood (ISAAC) Steering Committee.Worldwide variations in the prevalence of asthma symptoms: the International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood (ISAAC). *Eur Respir J* 1998;12(2): 315-35.
- 6. Kay AB. Allergy and allergic diseases. First of two parts. *N Engl J Med* 2001;344:30-7.
- 7. Maziak W. The asthma epidemic and our artificial habitats. *BMC Pulm Med* 2005;5:5.
- 8. Bäck O, Blomquist HK, Hernell O, Stenberg B. Does vitamin D intake during infancy promote the development of atopic allergy? *Acta Derm Venereol* 2009;89:28-32.
- 9. Torres-Borrego J, Moreno-Solís G, Molina-Terán AB. Diet for the prevention of asthma and allergies in early childhood: Much ado about something? *Allergol Immunopathol* 2012;4:244-52.
- 10. Raby BA, Lazarus R, Silverman EK, Lake S, Lange C, Wjst M, et al. Association of vitamin D receptor gene polymorphisms with childhood and adult asthma. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2004;170: 1057-65.
- 11. Brehm JM, Celedón JC, Soto-Quiros ME, Avila L, Hunninghake GM, Forno E, et al. Serum vitamin D levels and markers of severity of

childhood asthma in Costa Rica. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2009;179:765-71.

- van Oeffelen AA, Bekkers MB, Smit HA, Kerkhof M, Koppelman GH, Haveman-Nies A, et al. Serum micronutrient concentrations and childhood asthma: the PIAMA birth cohort study. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol* 2011;22:784-93.
- Bener A, Ehlayel MS, Tulic MK, Hamid Q. Vitamin D deficiency as a strong predictor of asthma in children. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol* 2012;157:168-75.
- 14. Milner JD, Stein DM, McCarter R, Moon RY. Early infant multivitamin supplementation is associated with increased risk for food allergy and asthma. *Pediatrics* 2004;114:27-32.
- Rothers J, Wright AL, Stern DA Halonen M, Camargo CA Jr. Cord blood 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels are associated with aeroallergen sensitization in children from Tucson, Arizona. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 2011;128(5):1093-9.
- Oren E, Banerji A, Camargo CA Jr. Vitamin D and atopic disorders in an obese population screened for vitamin D deficiency. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 2008;121:533-4.
- Lewis E, Fernandez C, Nella A, Hopp R, Gallagher JC, Casale TB. Relationship of 25-hydroxyvitamin D and asthma control in children. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol* 2012;108:281-2.
- 18. Erkkola M, Kaila M, Nwaru BI, Kronberg-Kippilä C, Ahonen S, Nevalainen J, et al. Maternal vitamin D intake during pregnancy is inversely associated with asthma and allergic rhinitis in 5-year-old children. *Clin Exp Allergy* 2009;39:875-82.
- 19. Devereux G, Litonjua AA, Turner SW, Craig LC, McNeill G, Martindale S, et al. Maternal vitamin D intake during pregnancy and early childhood wheezing. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2007;85:853-9.
- 20. Gale CR, Robinson SM, Harvey N Javaid MK, Jiang B, Martyn CN, et al. Maternal vitamin D status during pregnancy and child outcomes. *Eur J Clin Nutr*, 2008;62:68-77.

- 21. Camargo CA Jr, Rifas-Shiman SL, Litonjua AA, Rich-Edwards JW, Weiss ST, Gold DR, et al. Maternal intake of vitamin D during pregnancy and risk of recurrent wheeze in children at 3 y of age. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2007;85:788-95.
- 22. Ross AC, Manson JE, Abrams SA, Aloia JF, Brannon PM, Clinton SK, et al. The 2011 report on dietary reference intakes for calcium and vitamin D from the Institute of Medicine: what clinicians need to know. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 2011;96:53-8.
- 23. Tremblay M, Wolfson M, Gorber SC. Canadian Health Measures Survey: rationale, background and overview. *Health Rep* 2007;18 Suppl:7-20.
- Canadian Health Measures Survey (CHMS) Data User Guide: Cycle 1.
  Ottawa (ON): Statistics Canada; 2011. Availabe: www23.statcan.gc.ca/imdb-bmdi/pub/document/5071\_D2\_T1\_V1eng.htm (Accessed 2013 Feb. 5).
- 25. Bryan S, St-Denis M, Wojtas D. Canadian Health Measures Survey: clinic operations and logistics. *Health Rep* 2007;18 Suppl:53-70.
- 26. Corey M, Levison H, Crozier D. Five- to seven-year course of pulmonary function in cystic fibrosis. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 1976;114:1085-92.
- 27. Hankinson, JL, Odencrantz JR, Fedan KB. Spirometric reference values from a sample of the general U.S. population. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1999;159:179-87.
- 28. Majak P, Olszowiec-Chlebna M, Smejda, Stelmach I. Vitamin D supplementation in children may prevent asthma exacerbation triggered by acute respiratory infection. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 2011;127:1294-6.
- 29. Gupta A, Sjoukes A, Richards D, Banya W, Hawrylowicz C, Bush A, et al. Relationship between serum vitamin D, disease severity, and airway remodeling in children with asthma. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2011;184:1342-9
- Heaney RP, Recker RR, Grote J, Horst RL, Armas LA. Vitamin D(3) is more potent than vitamin D(2) in humans. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*.2011;96:E447–E452.
- 31. Tolppanen AM, Sayers A, Granell R, Fraser WD, Henderson J, Lawlor DA. Prospective Association of 25-Hydroxyvitamin D3 and D2 with

Childhood Lung Function, Asthma, Wheezing, and Flexural Dermatitis. *Epidemiology*, 2013;24:310-9

- 32. Cranney A, Horsley T, O'Donnell S, Weiler H, Puil L, Ooi D, et al. Effectiveness and safety of vitamin D in relation to bone health. *Evid Rep Technol Assess (Full Rep)*, 2007;158:1-235.
- 33. Wimalawansa SJ. Vitamin D in the new millennium. *Curr Osteoporos Rep* 2012;10:4-15.
- 34. Sutherland ER, Goleva E, Jackson LP, Stevens AD, Leung DY. Vitamin D levels, lung function, and steroid response in adult asthma. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2010;181:699-704.
- 35. Zhang Y, Leung DY, Richers BN, Liu Y, Remigio LK, Riches DW, et al. Vitamin D inhibits monocyte macrophage proinflammatory cytokine production by targeting MAPK phosphatase-1. *J Immunol* 2012,188:2127-35.
- 36. Alyasin S, Momen T, Kashef S, Alipour A, Amin R. The relationship between serum 25 hydroxy vitamin d levels and asthma in children. *Allergy Asthma Immunol Res* 2011;3:251-5.
- 37. Hypponen E, Sovio U, Wjst M, Patel S, Pekkanen J, Hartikainen AL, et al. Infant vitamin d supplementation and allergic conditions in adulthood: northern Finland birth cohort 1966. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 2004;1037:84-95.
- 38. Radlović N, Mladenović M, Simić D, Radlović P. Vitamin D in the light of current knowledge. *Srp Arh Celok Lek* 2012;140:110-4.
- 39. Lips P. Interaction between vitamin D and calcium. *Scand J Clin Lab Invest Suppl*, 2012;243:60-4.
- 40. Bouillon R. Why modest but widespread improvement of the vitamin D status is the best strategy? *Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 2011;25:693-702.
- Langlois K, Greene-Finestone L, Little J, Hidiroglou N, Whiting S.
  Vitamin D status of Canadians as measured in the 2007 to 2009 Canadian Health Measures Survey. *Health Rep* 2010;21:47-55.
- 42. Canadian City and Town Geographic Coordinates. Maple Ridge (BC): Infinite Gravity; 2004. Available <u>www.infinitegravity.ca/mapdata/canada.asp</u> (Accessed 2013 Feb. 5).

- 43. Climate & Temperature: Canada. climatemps.com; 2012. Available <u>http://www.climatetemp.info/canada/</u> (Accessed 2013 Feb. 5).
- 44. Webb AR, Kline L, Holick MF. Influence of season and latitude on the cutaneous synthesis of vitamin D3: exposure to winter sunlight in Boston and Edmonton will not promote vitamin D3 synthesis in human skin. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 1988;67:373-8.
- 45. Norman AW Bouillon R. Vitamin D nutritional policy needs a vision for the future. *Exp Biol Med (Maywood)* 2010;235:1034-45.
- 46. Sandhu MS, Casale TB. The role of vitamin D in asthma. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol* 2010;105:191-9.
- 47. Brehm JM, Acosta-Pérez E, Klei L, Roeder K, Barmada M, Boutaoui N, et al. Vitamin D Insufficiency and Severe Asthma Exacerbations in Puerto Rican Children. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2012;186:140-6.
- 48. Searing DA, Zhang Y, Murphy JR Hauk PJ, Goleva E, Leung DY. Decreased serum vitamin D levels in children with asthma are associated with increased corticosteroid use. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 2010;125:995-1000.
# Chapter 3 Association between vitamin D level and asthma in Canadian adolescents and adults

## 3.1 Introduction

The World Health Organization estimated that 300 million people worldwide currently suffer from asthma (1). Not only high-income countries, but all countries regardless of the level of development or their geographical location experience a substantial burden due to asthma morbidity (2). The prevalence of asthma among adults has been increasing over the last 20 years in Canada (3) and was reported as 8.1% in 2012 (4). An asthma attack is one of the most common conditions reported in primary care and emergency visits (5). The Conference Board of Canada reported that the economic impact due to asthma was \$3.4 billion in direct healthcare costs and \$8.6 billion in indirect costs including work loss (6). Environmental, biological and genetic factors have been shown to be important factors associated with asthma (7).

Although the classic vitamin D deficiency disease of rickets was first described in the 17<sup>th</sup> century (8), vitamin D was first discovered by Sir Edward Mellanby in 1922 (9). Vitamin D has long been known for its role in the prevention of rickets, and in the intestinal absorption of dietary calcium (9,10). In recent decades, it has been recognized as a vital nutrient in protecting the body from a wide range of diseases (11). The link between vitamin D and asthma has been the subject of considerable scientific debate in recent years (12). The hypothesis that vitamin D plays central role as an environmental and epigenetic contributor to the pathogenesis of asthma and its exacerbation, allergy and

respiratory infections, termed the "vitamin D hypothesis", was proposed based on various experimental and epidemiological findings (13). Vitamin D deficiency is reported to be prevalent among asthmatics, and results in poor control of symptoms, and steroid insensitivity (14). By affecting the functions of subsets of immune cells, vitamin D potentially impacts on the levels of circulating chemokines and cytokines involved in cellular immune responses and inflammation reduction (15). It is also known that vitamin D synergistically enhances anti-inflammatory effects of steroids administered in asthmatics (16,17). Despite these findings, data on a possible relationship between asthma and vitamin D, and the optimal range of vitamin D for patients with asthma remains unclear.

Initially, normal levels of serum vitamin D were defined by the amount needed to keep parathyroid hormone from becoming abnormally high (18), and the optimal range was decided from mean serum  $25(OH)D \pm 2$  standard deviation in a group of healthy individuals (19). However, what is considered the normal range has varied considerably (19,20). In the early 1990's 25(OH)D levels between 25 -137.5 nmol/L measured in the wintertime were considered as normal (21). Due to the recent advances in understanding of the immunological functions of vitamin D, a panel from the Institute of Medicine concluded that a serum level of 50 nmol/L is sufficient for the bone health of 97% of the population (22). In this chapter, the association between 25(OH)D level and respiratory outcomes is examined among Canadian adolescents and adults using the data from CHMS.

## 3.2 Methods

A secondary analysis was conducted using the data for subjects aged 6-79 years of age included in population-based data available from the CHMS. The data was considered representative of 96.3% of Canadian population. This study was approved by the Health Research Ethics Board of the University of Alberta.

The details of the CHMS are fully described elsewhere (23). In brief, the survey used a multistage sampling design to collect data on self-reported and direct measures of health from a representative sample of Canadians aged 6 to 79 years living in private households at the time of the survey. Residents of Indian Reserves or Crown lands, institutions and certain remote regions, and full-time members of the Canadian Forces were excluded. The survey was conducted between March, 2007 and February, 2009. Trained staff of Statistics Canada conducted household interviews using the questionnaire. The content of the questionnaire was developed by Statistics Canada in partnership with Health Canada and the Public Health Agency of Canada. From the household interview information on respiratory symptoms and diseases, personal and family characteristics were obtained. Within 14 days of the household interview, participants were invited to visit a Mobile Examination Clinic (MEC) for measurement of a number of relevant characteristics. In total, 5604 individuals randomly selected from 15 sites from British Columbia, Alberta, Ontario and Quebec participated in the survey. The overall combined response rate for this survey was 51.7%. Of the 4,385 subjects of ages 13 to 79 years who participated in the CHMS, 3,762 subjects were included in these analyses after removing the

subjects with missing 25(OH)D measurements and those who were older than 69 years.

As part of the visit to the MEC, venous blood samples were collected using routine methods, processed, and stored at -18C in a freezer within the MEC laboratory. Frozen samples of blood were sent weekly to the Health Canada reference laboratory in Ottawa, where the serum 25(OH)D was measured.

Spirometry was performed using the Respironics KoKo spirometer (PDS Instrumentation, Louisville, CO) according to American Thoracic Society guidelines by a health measurement specialist. A minimum of 3 and a maximum of 8 acceptable trials were performed. From the best test effort, the following parameters were obtained: forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV<sub>1</sub>), forced vital capacity (FVC), FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC ratio, and forced expiratory flow between 25% and 75% of forced vital capacity (FEF<sub>25%-75%</sub>). All spirometry results were reviewed by an external reviewer to ensure quality of the measurements. Participants were given accelerometers to monitor and measure their physical activity for one week.

Serum 25(OH)D was selected as the measure of vitamin D status because levels of this indicator reflect total vitamin D exposure from foods, supplements, and synthesis in the skin. Serum levels of 25(OH)D were assessed by a chemiluminescence assay using the LIAISON 25-Hydroxyvitamin D total assay (Diasorin Ltd, Stillwater, MN). The lower and upper detection limits were 10 nmol/L and 375 nmol/L, respectively. For the analysis, serum 25(OH)D levels

were categorized into  $\leq$ 49 nmol/L (low), 50-74 nmol/L (moderate), and  $\geq$ 75 nmol/L (high).The cut-points used were based on IOM guidelines, and a number of observational studies.

Ever asthma was determined from the household questionnaire from responses to the question "in conditions lasted 6 months or more and that have been diagnosed by a health professional, do you have asthma". Age of onset was obtained from the question "How old was the participant when this was first diagnosed?" Current asthma was obtained from the responses to the responses to the question "whether or not the participant had any asthma symptoms of asthma attacks in the past 12 months?"

#### **3.3** Statistical analysis

To test for differences in continuous outcomes between those with and without current asthma, and between vitamin D groups, analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used. To test for association of categorical variable with current asthma or ever asthma, Pearson's chi-squared test was used. Multiple logistic regression was used to identify the predictors of current asthma and ever asthma. Similarly, multiple linear regression was used to identify the predictors of lung function parameters. Probability weights derived from the 2006 census-based population estimates were used to allow for the sampling design and response rates. Five hundred bootstrap weights of probability weight provided by Statistics Canada were used to estimate the standard errors of the estimated parameters.

Predictor variables of interest were sex, age, body mass index, household size, household income, attending school, family history of asthma, daily sun exposure, number of bedrooms in the house, use of gas furnace, use of electric heating system, racial origin, number of weekly sedentary activities, region, smoking status, and use of sun-screen. Racial origin was obtained from respondent's self-reported cultural and racial background.

From the graphical descriptive analysis, a non-linear association of age with lung function parameters was noticed. As a result, restricted cubic spline terms (24) of age were used in all multiple regression analysis of lung function outcomes. For restricted cubic splines, the position of three knots at 18, 29 and 50 was determined from the distribution of age in the association with FVC. Tests for non-linear association of age with lung functions used the likelihood ratio test comparing the model with only the linear term to the model with the linear and the cubic spline term. Post hoc testing was done using Wald's t-statistic to detect the overall significance of a variable in the model. Variables were included in the regression models if there was evidence of association with dependent variable in the univariate analysis (p-value < 0.2). As the data were collected from 15 sites in 4 provinces, the degrees of freedom available for statistical analysis was 11 which restricted the number of variables chosen for the final regression models. All pvalues were two-tailed and  $p \le 0.05$  was considered significant.

#### 3.4 Results

Overall prevalence of ever asthma and current asthma in the study was 8.1%, and 4.7%, respectively. The mean 25(OH)D level (SD) was 66.75 (24.11) nmol/L. As seen in Table 3.1, the mean 25(OH)D level was lower in those with current asthma than those without current asthma but the difference was not statistically significant. Similarly, no significant differences were observed in mean 25(OH)D levels between those with and without ever asthma. There were no significant differences in height or weight between those with and without current asthma or ever asthma categories. Those with current asthma, and ever asthma were significantly younger than those without.

Characteristics of the cohort, including the proportion with current asthma and the unadjusted odds ratios of the association between current asthma and the demographic characteristics of the population are shown in Table 3.2. In this study, 27.2% of the subjects had low 25(OH)D levels ( $\leq$ 49 nmol/L), 39.3% had moderate levels (50-74 nmol/L), and 33.6% had high levels ( $\geq$ 75 nmol/L). Among the subjects with low 25(OH)D levels, the proportion of males was greater than females, while in the moderate and high 25(OH)D levels proportion of females was greater than males (p=0.05). The prevalence of ever asthma was 9.5% in subjects with low 25(OH)D levels, 7.5% in subjects with moderate 25(OH)D levels, and 7.7% in subjects with high 25(OH)D levels with differences not being statistically significant (p=0.28). The prevalence of current asthma was not significantly different between low (6.4%), moderate (4.1%), and high (4.2%) 25(OH)D categories, respectively (p=0.09). In the univariate analysis, current

asthma was associated with younger age, attending school, and having family history of asthma, and greater number of hours spent in sedentary activities (Table 3.2).

Characteristics of those with ever asthma and the unadjusted odds ratios for the association between ever asthma and the characteristics are shown in Table 3.3. In the univariate analysis, female sex, low household income, attending school, and having a family history of asthma were positively associated with ever asthma (Table 3.3). Among subjects with asthma, around two-thirds (62.9%) developed asthma before 20 years (early-onset), and the rest developed asthma after 20 years (late-onset).

Although the highest mean values of FVC, FEV<sub>1</sub>, and FEF<sub>25%-75%</sub> were observed in subjects in the moderate 25(OH)D category, these differences were not statistically significant (Table 3.4). In contrast, the highest mean values of percent predicted FVC and FEV<sub>1</sub> were observed in the high 25(OH)D category, but again these differences were not statistically significant. There were significant increases in age (p=0.05), decreases of weight (p=0.001), and FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC ratio (p=0.002) from low to high 25(OH)D categories

As seen in Table 3.5, after controlling for sex, age, family history of asthma, and daily energy expenditure, subjects in the low 25(OH)D category had a 54% increased odds of current asthma in comparison to those in the moderate category (OR: 1.54, 95% CI: 1.01-2.36). In a multiple logistic regression analysis of ever asthma, the interaction between 25(OH)D categories and family history of asthma was significant. After allowing for the interaction, and adjustment for age, race and sedentary activity, subjects in the low 25(OH)D category with a family history of asthma has a more than two fold increase in odds of ever asthma in comparison to the moderate category (OR: 2.11, 95% CI: 1.40-3.21). The association between low 25(OH)D level and ever asthma in subjects without a family history of asthma was not statistically significant (p=0.45). Subjects with 35 or greater hours of weekly sedentary activity had an increased odds of asthma attacks and ever asthma in comparison to those who had 19 or lesser hours of weekly sedentary activity.

The results from the stratified analysis according to early and late onset of asthma ( $\leq 20$  years and > 20 years) among subjects with asthma are shown in Table 3.6. An increase of one year in age was associated with a 4% decrease in likelihood of developing asthma in those with early onset asthma (p<0.001). Among subjects with early onset of asthma, those in the low 25(OH)D category with a family history of asthma had an almost 3-fold increase in the odds of ever asthma in comparison to those in the moderate category (OR: 2.84, 95% CI: 1.35-6.00). Among subjects with late onset of asthma, one year increase in age was associated with a 3% increase in the odds of ever asthma. There was no significant association between 25(OH)D categories and ever asthma among subjects with late-onset of asthma.

Table 3.7 shows the association of 25(OH)D categories with lung function parameters from the multiple linear regression analysis. The intercept indicates the mean value of respective lung function of a Caucasian female of mean age,

height and weight. After adjusting for age, gender, height, weight, smoking status, and race, subjects in the low 25(OH)D category had lower mean values of FVC,  $FEV_1$ ,  $FEV_1/FVC$  ratio, and  $FEF_{25\%-75\%}$  compared to those in the moderate category, however these differences were not statistically significant. Subjects in the high 25(OH)D category had significantly lower mean values of  $FEV_1/FVC$  (p=0.02), in comparison to those in the moderate 25(OH)D category. Increasing age had an inverse non-linear association with lung function parameters; in particular cubic spline non-linear term of age was highly significantly associated.

## 3.5 Discussion

In this study, low vitamin D level was associated with a more than twofold increased odds of risk of ever asthma in those with family history of asthma, and an almost 50% increased risk of current asthma compared to a moderate vitamin D level. Importantly, the association of lower vitamin D level with ever asthma was only evident in those who developed asthma before 20 years of age and had a family history of asthma. The cross-sectional decline of FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC with age was dependent on vitamin D levels. These results suggest that low vitamin D levels have an adverse effect on ever asthma, and high vitamin D level had an adverse effect on FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC ratio.

Several studies have assessed vitamin D status in Canada (25). It is acknowledged that the prevalence of low vitamin D level varies, and is much higher than previously thought (26). Using the 50 nmol/L value as cutoff, this study reports a prevalence of vitamin D deficiency of 27.2%, which is similar to other reports. Of note, vitamin D deficiency is mainly a consequence of dietary, lifestyle, and behavioral factors (12). A study of the economic burden of vitamin D deficiency reported that the burden could be reduced by 7.3% in Canada if mean serum vitamin D levels were increased to 105 nmol/L (27). Although the optimal range of 25(OH)D varies widely depending on ethnic background, age and presence of conditions affecting serum vitamin D level, there is an urgent need for efforts to increase vitamin D levels in those with deficiency. Studies need to identify the best method to increase vitamin D status either by recommending vitamin D supplementation, or by recommending sun-exposure, or both.

Family history of asthma is recognized to be an important risk factor for asthma in children (28) and adults (29,30). Individuals having a family history of asthma have a stronger genetic predisposition to develop asthma compared to those without a family asthma (31). This study found that low vitamin D levels synergistically increased the risk of ever asthma among those with familial asthma. This is a novel finding and suggests that individuals with family history of asthma might have a unique immune and/or genetic phenotype, in which vitamin D deficiency increases the likelihood of the development of asthma. The synergistic effect of vitamin D with family history asthma for ever asthma was evident only in those who developed asthma after 20 years of age (late-onset). The lack of synergistic effect between vitamin D and family history of asthma among those with late-onset asthma in this study raises the possibility that late-onset asthma may have a different mechanism to early-onset asthma. These findings put

together suggest that maintaining vitamin D at optimal physiologic level may be useful in preventing those with a family history of asthma from developing asthma in childhood, but the effect may be lost by adulthood. In a clinical context, this finding will be useful in early detection of those at most risk to develop asthma and asthma exacerbations.

The exact mechanism by which vitamin D modulates the risk of asthma is not completely understood. However, there are experimental data, which elucidate the mechanism for the association of vitamin D with the pathogenesis and course of asthma. The active form of vitamin D is involved in the regulation of expression of the antimicrobial peptide cathelicidin in bronchial epithelial cells, which is important in the defense against respiratory infections. Through this mechanism vitamin D likely protects against asthma exacerbation (32). Vitamin D likely also acts as a physiological regulator modifying inhibition and enhancement of processes potentiating  $Th_2$  responses (33). Furthermore, vitamin D receptors (VDR) have been localized in both respiratory epithelial cells and in bronchial smooth muscle. VDR bound with the active form of vitamin D controls the transcription of target genes involved in signaling pathways (34). Furthermore, there have been reports of an association of some single nucleotide polymorphisms of the VDR gene with asthma and atopy (35,36), which suggests a plausible explanation for the novel findings in this study.

In this study, lung function parameters did not significantly vary across vitamin D categories in multiple linear regression models after adjusting for potential confounders, except for the association of high vitamin D level with

FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC ratio. The inability to find an association of vitamin D with other parameters of lung function in this study cannot altogether exclude an effect of vitamin D on lung function, since there have been several studies reporting a significant association (37–39). Given that the mean age of the sample was 40 years, it is possible that the role of vitamin D on lung function may be marred by other influential factors on lung function. A cubic spline method was used to control for the non-linear effect of age on lung parameters, which was important as the sample comprised a relatively heterogeneous group (adolescents, middle age, and above) of individuals who were at different points with respect to lung development and maturity. A study which included individuals of ages 18 years or greater from the CHMS data found a significant association of FVC, and FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC with log-transformed 25(OH)D level in male and obese subgroups (40). It is also known that airway remodeling, a process where structural airway changes including airway wall thickness, subepithelial fibrosis, airway lumen stenosis, hyperplasia and hypertrophy of myofibroblasts and epithelial cells in airway lumen, is more prominent in adults (41). By down-regulating the expression of genes associated with airway remodeling, and enhancing antiproliferative effects on airway smooth muscles cells, vitamin D potentially reduces airway remodeling (42).

Based on a recent review of the literature about vitamin D, the Institute of Medicine recommended individuals should have a serum vitamin D level of 50 nmol/L or greater and levels >50nmol/L met the needs of 97.5% of the population (22). This review also suggested that levels more than 75 nmol/l were not consistently associated with increased health benefits and concluded that there were insufficient data to recommend supplementation with vitamin D for the prevention of non-bone related diseases (22). This study used the cut-points suggested by IOM, which have been used in several studies previously. Some studies suggested that the optimal level of vitamin D in adults needed to be  $\geq$ 75nmol/L, a level associated with maximal suppression of parathyroid hormone and reduced fracture risk (43,44,26). From the study findings, vitamin D level  $\geq$ 75nmol/L nmol/L may not provide an increased health benefit. Rather a vitamin D level  $\geq$ 75nmol/L was associated with a slightly higher prevalence of current asthma and ever asthma. In simple and multiple regression analyses, the lack of a protective association of high vitamin D levels with current asthma or ever asthma also argues against this option. Additionally, the highest mean FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC ratio was observed in moderate vitamin D level in univariate analysis and this association remained significant in multiple regression analysis.

In Chapter 2, low and high vitamin D levels were adversely associated with current respiratory parameters such as current wheeze, and lung function in children. In this chapter, an adverse association of low vitamin D level with respiratory outcomes continuing in adulthood was observed. The present study has several strengths. First, the data for this study came from a nationally representative, large and population-based sample. Second, the outcome and covariates were derived from a standardized questionnaire, objectively measured health measures and bio-specimen obtained using trained technicians. Unfortunately, as this study used a cross-sectional study design, the temporal

sequence of events cannot be determined and a causal relationship between respiratory outcomes and vitamin D cannot be ascertained. In conclusion, vitamin D may be playing a role in optimal respiratory health, in particular moderate levels of vitamin D protect against asthma development and exacerbation. Exploration of this relationship is needed to inform optimal level of vitamin D in regard to respiratory comes.

	Current asthma¶			Ever asthma¶		
Factor	No Mean (SD)	Yes Mean (SD)	p-value*	No Mean (SD)	Yes Mean (SD)	p-value*
Age (years)	40.05 (13.97)	36.98 (14.55)	0.03	40.15 (13.84)	37.08 (15.72)	0.008
Height (cm)	168.83 (8.57)	168.66 (9.01)	0.88	168.93 (8.51)	167.66 (9.43)	0.22
Weight (kg)	76.27 (16.53)	77.28 (18.16)	0.55	76.34 (16.4)	76.03 (18.98)	0.81
Vitamin D (nmol/L)	66.91 (24.13)	63.44 (23.29)	0.28	66.94 (24.13)	64.60 (23.31)	0.31

Table 3.1Distribution of sample characteristics by current and everasthma

\*p-value from ANOVA

Factor	Distribution in the sample (%)	Proportion of current asthma (%)	Unadjusted OR (95% CI)	p-value*
Vitamin D Level				0.075
Low ( $\leq 49 \text{ nmol/L}$ )	27.2	6.4	1.6 (1.09, 2.36)	
Moderate (50-74 nmol/L)	39.3	4.1	1.00	
High ( $\geq$ 75 nmol/L)	33.6	4.2	1.03 (0.63, 1.70)	
Sex				0.21
Female	50.2	5.3	1.00	
Male	49.8	4.2	0.78 (0.51, 1.18)	
Body mass index				0.31
Normal or under weight	45.3	4.0	1.00	
Overweight	34.2	4.3	1.09 (0.56, 2.12)	
Obese	20.5	5.7	1.48 (0.89, 2.46)	
Family history of Asthma				< 0.001
No	77.1	3.1	1.00	
Yes	22.9	10.7	3.8 (2.38, 6.06)	
Household income				0.22
Low	18.8	8.7	2.22 (0.81, 6.1)	
Middle	31.5	4.1	1.00	
High	49.7	3.5	0.85 (0.52, 1.4)	
Attending school				0.03
No	80.2	4.1	1.00	
Yes	19.8	7.2	1.84 (1.07, 3.16)	
Daily sun exposure				0.58
<1 hour	29.0	5.3	1.35 (0.74, 2.47)	
1-3 hour	38.7	4.0	1.00	
>3 hour	32.3	5.2	1.32 (0.67, 2.59)	
Use of electric heating system				0.67
No	65.6	4.4	1.00	
Yes	34.4	5.0	1.15 (0.57, 2.33)	
Use of gas furnace				0.64
No	47.5	4.8	1.00	
Yes	52.5	4.3	0.89 (0.51, 1.55)	
Weekly sedentary hours				0.02
<= 19	45.7	3.7	1.00	
20-34	40.9	4.6	1.23 (0.52, 2.9)	
>35	3.4	8.6	2.43 (1.41, 4.21)	

Table 3.2 Characteristics of the study sample, proportion of current asthma by factors and odds ratiofor the relationship of factors with current asthma

Consumption of milk (daily)				0.35
Less than once	43.1	4.8	1.14 (0.72, 1.8)	
At-least once	48.2	4.2	1.00	
More than twice	8.7	7.5	1.86 (0.76, 4.58)	
Smoking status				0.54
Never	52.4	4.4	1.00	
Current	21.5	5.9	1.39 (0.76, 2.53)	
Former	26.1	4.5	1.02 (0.53, 1.97)	
Liver or kidney diseases				0.39
No	95.6	4.6	1.00	
Yes	4.4	6.8	1.51 (0.54, 4.25)	
Race				0.19
Caucasian	81.4	4.3	1.00	
Other	18.6	6.6	1.58 (0.77, 3.25)	
Smoking inside home				0.38
No	84.4	4.5	1.00	
Yes	15.6	6.1	1.39 (0.62, 3.13)	
Seasonality				0.29
May - Oct	51.8	4.2	1.00	
Nov - Apr	48.2	5.3	1.27 (0.79, 2.05)	
Use of sunscreen				0.19
Never	30.3	4.3	1.00	
Always/often	31.5	5.2	1.23 (0.75, 2)	
Sometimes/rarely	38.2	3.9	0.9 (0.38, 2.13)	
Region				0.29
Ontario	38.9	3.7	1.00	
Quebec, New Brunswick	30.5	5.0	1.39 (0.67, 2.87)	
British Columbia, Alberta	30.5	5.7	1.59 (0.88, 2.86)	

\*p-value from univariate logistic regression of current asthma

Factor	Proportion of ever asthma (%)	Unadjusted OR (95% CI)	p-value*
Vitamin D categories			0.28
Low ( $\leq$ 49 nmol/L )	9.5	1.29 (0.93, 1.79)	
Moderate (50-74 nmol/L)	7.5	1.00	
High ( $\geq$ 75 nmol/L )	7.7	1.02 (0.7, 1.51)	
Sex			0.04
Female	9.5	1.00	
Male	6.7	0.68 (0.47, 0.99)	
Body mass index			0.25
Normal or under weight	7.6	1.00	
Overweight	6.6	0.85 (0.51, 1.44)	
Obese	9.4	1.25 (0.84, 1.85)	
Family history of asthma			< 0.001
No	5.8	1.00	
Yes	16.2	3.15 (2.1, 4.72)	
Household income			0.004
Low	14.6	2.27 (1.24, 4.14)	
Middle	7.0	1.00	
High	6.2	0.87 (0.55, 1.38)	
Attending school			0.004
No	7.1	1.00	
Yes	12.2	1.82 (1.26, 2.65)	
Daily sun exposure			0.48
<1 hour	8.4	1.17 (0.75, 1.82)	
1-3 hour	7.3	1.00	
>3 hours	8.8	1.22 (0.82, 1.83)	
Use of electric heating system			0.37
No	7.4	1.00	
Yes	8.7	1.19 (0.78, 1.82)	
Use of gas furnace			0.63
No	8.2	1.00	
Yes	7.6	0.92 (0.64 1.33)	
Weekly sedentary hours			0.054
<=19	6.8	1.00	
20-34	8.1	1.2 (0.74, 1.94)	
>35	12.4	1.93 (1.22, 3.04)	

Table 3.3 Proportion of ever asthma by factors and odds ratio for the relationshipof factors with ever asthma

Consumption of milk (daily)			0.09
Less than once	8.1	1.1 (0.86, 1.41)	
At least once	7.4	1.00	
More than twice	11.7	1.64 (0.95, 2.84)	
Smoking status			0.19
Never	7.6	1.00	
Current	10.3	1.4 (0.95, 2.06)	
Former	7.4	0.97 (0.64, 1.47)	
Liver or kidney disease			0.49
No	8.0	1.00	
Yes	9.9	1.26 (0.57, 2.82)	
Race			0.5
Caucasian	7.8	1.00	
Other	9.3	1.2 (0.67, 2.14)	
Smoking inside home			0.48
No	7.9	1.00	
Yes	9.4	1.21 (0.66,, 2.23	
Seasonality			0.11
May - Oct	7.1	1.00	
Nov - Apr	9.2	1.33 (0.88, 2.02)	
Use of sunscreen			0.9
Never	7.6	1.00	
Always/often	8.2	1.09 (0.72, 1.65)	
Sometimes	7.9	1.04 (0.69, 1.57)	
Region			0.52
Ontario	7.2	1.00	
Quebec, New Brunswick	8.1	1.13 (0.63, 2.01)	
British Columbia, Alberta	9.3	1.32 (0.71, 2.46)	

\*p-value from univariate logistic regression of ever asthma

		Vitamin D categories				
Factor	Overall	Low	Moderate	High	p-value	
		Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)		
Age (years)	39.91 (14.01)	38.70 (12.97)	39.83 (13.63)	41.58 (14.93)	0.09	
Height (cm)	168.82 (8.59)	168.97 (8.5)	168.72 (8.66)	168.92 (8.48)	0.91	
Weight (kg)	76.32 (16.61)	78.73 (18)	76.96 (16.14)	73.69 (15.17)	0.001	
Percent predicted FVC (%)	99.26 (11.27)	98.22 (11.74)	99.65 (11.02)	99.87 (10.93)	0.45	
Percent predicted $FEV_1$ (%)	95.94 (12.19)	95.32 (12.22)	96.18 (12.03)	96.25 (12.16)	0.72	
Percent predicted FEV <sub>1</sub> /FVC (%)	96.54 (7.64)	97.01 (7.12)	96.37 (7.72)	96.20 (8.0)	0.28	
FVC (L)	4.21 (0.95)	4.17 (0.97)	4.25 (0.97)	4.23 (0.92)	0.74	
$\text{FEV}_1$ (L)	3.30 (0.77)	3.28 (0.78)	3.32 (0.78)	3.28 (0.74)	0.77	
FEV <sub>1</sub> /FVC (%)	78.33 (6.89)	78.95 (6.55)	78.21 (6.9)	77.73 (7.12)	0.01	
FEF <sub>25%-75%</sub> (L/s)	3.05 (1.05)	3.07 (1.06)	3.08 (1.03)	3.00 (1.04)	0.36	

Table 3.4Distribution of sample characteristics and lung function by vitamin Dcategories

\* p-values are from analysis of variance for comparison between vitamin D categories

Factor	Current asthma		Ever asthma		
-	Odds Ratio (95% CI)	p-value	Odds Ratio (95% CI)	p-value	
Vitamin D levels					
$\leq$ 49 nmol/L	1.54 (1.01, 2.36)	0.047	-		
50-74 nmol/L	1.00		-		
$\geq$ 75 nmol/L	1.03 (0.6, 1.75)	0.90	-		
Age (1 year)	0.99 (0.98, 1.00)	0.082	0.99 (0.98, 1.00)	0.034	
Family history of asthma					
No	1.00		-		
Yes	3.63 (2.17, 6.07)	< 0.001	-		
Sex					
Female	1.00		1.00		
Male	0.81 (0.56, 1.18)	0.25	0.68 (0.47, 0.99)	0.044	
Sedentary activities					
$\leq$ 19 hours	1.00		1.00		
20-34 hours	1.25 (0.54, 2.87)	0.57	1.27 (0.80, 2.03)	0.28	
$\geq$ 35 hours	2.27 (1.27, 4.08)	0.01	1.85 (1.21, 2.82)	0.008	
With Vitamin D at 50-74 nmol/L					
No Family history	-		1.00		
Family History	-		2.49 (1.35, 4.60)	0.008	
With family history of asthma					
$\leq$ 49 nmol/L	-		2.11 (1.44, 3.21)	0.002	
50-74 nmol/L	-		1.00		
$\geq$ 75 nmol/L	-		0.80 (0.41, 1.55)	0.024	
Without family history of asthma	1				
$\leq$ 49 nmol/L	-		0.85 (0.54, 1.35)	0.45	
50-74 nmol/L	-		1.00		
$\geq$ 75 nmol/L	-		1.20 (0.68, 2.12)	0.50	

 Table 3.5
 Results from the multiple logistic regression of current asthma and ever asthma

F	Age of onset <=20	years	Age of onset >20 years		
Factor	Odds Ratio (95% CI) p-value		Odds Ratio (95% CI)	p-value	
Vitamin D					
$\leq$ 49 nmol/L	-		1.04 (0.47, 2.28)	0.9	
50-74 nmol/L	-		1.00		
$\geq$ 75 nmol/L	-		0.72 (0.32, 1.65)	0.4	
Age (years)	0.96 (0.94, 0.97)	< 0.001	1.03 (1.02, 1.05)	0.001	
Sex					
Female	1.00		1.00		
Male	0.71 (0.44, 1.13)	0.13	0.7 (0.36, 1.37)	0.26	
Family history of asthma					
No	-		1.00		
Yes	-		2.11 (0.83, 5.37)	0.10	
With vitamin D at 50-74 nmol/L					
No family history	1.00		-		
Family history	3.20 (1.49, 6.86)	0.006	-		
With family history of asthma					
$\leq$ 49 nmol/L	2.85 (1.35, 6.00)	0.01	-		
50-74 nmol/L	1.00		-		
$\geq$ 75 nmol/L	0.78 (0.42, 1.44)	0.40	-		
Without family history of asthma					
$\leq$ 49 nmol/L	0.90 (0.40, 2.01)	0.70	-		
50-74 nmol/L	1.00		-		
$\geq$ 75 nmol/L	1.74 (0.88, 3.46)	0.10	-		

Table 3.6Relationship between ever asthma and vitamin D categories for early and late onsetof asthma.

Factor	FVC (ml)	FEV <sub>1</sub> (ml)	<b>FEV</b> <sub>1</sub> / <b>FVC</b> (%)	FEF <sub>25%-75%</sub> (ml)
	$\beta$ (SE)†	β (SE)†	$\beta$ (SE)†	β (SE)†
Vitamin D (ref - moderate)				
$\leq$ 49 nmol/L	-86.06 (52.45)	-60.94 (37.59)	-0.3 (0.57)	-71.75 (72.6)
$\geq$ 75 nmol/L	6.59 (30.51)	12.41 (18.37)	-0.95 (0.35)‡	20.81 (38.17)
Age*				
Linear	22.23 (3.29)¶	7.08 (3.02)‡	-0.12 (0.03)§	-5.02 (4.64)
Non-linear	-51.57 (3.61)¶	-37.82 (3.22)¶	-0.13 (0.05)‡	-38.48 (4.97)¶
Sex				
Male (ref - female)	574.32 (34.25)¶	459.82 (29.64)¶	0.08 (0.41)	427.24 (79.2)¶
Height*	63.2 (1.37)¶	42.15 (1.01)¶	-0.14 (0.02)¶	21.32 (3.08)¶
Weight*	-2.39 (1.01)‡	-0.26 (0.69)	0.03 (0.01§	4.88 (1.42)§
Smoking status (ref - Never)				
Current	-	-154.45 (37.2)§	-4.25 (0.41)¶	-426.26 (49.04)¶
Former	-	-40.56 (29.68)	-1.1 (0.38)‡	-140.69 (61.32)‡
Race				
Others (ref - Caucasian)	-385.25 (64.09)¶	-219.31 (49.47)¶	1.99 (0.48)§	-
Vitamin D and Age interaction				
$\leq$ 49 nmol/L and linear	-	-	-0.11 (0.07)	-
$\geq$ 75 nmol/L and linear	-	-	-0.23 (0.05)¶	-
$\leq$ 49 nmol/L and non-linear	-	-	0.15 (0.1)	-
$\geq$ 75 nmol/L and non-linear	-	-	0.3 (0.06)¶	-

 Table 3.7. Results from the multiple linear regression analysis of lung function outcomes

Intercept	4187.41 (29.78)¶	3284.94 (16)¶	79.45 (0.44)¶	3110.6 (61.28)¶
Adj. R-squared (%)	74.1	70.9	27.8	40.1
* Variables were centralized				

 $\dagger \beta$  (SE) - Regression coefficient (Standard error)

 $\ddagger p\text{-value} \leq 0.05$ 

 $p-value \leq 0.01$ 

 $\P{p\text{-value}} \leq 0.001$ 

# **References:**

- Masoli M, Fabian D, Holt S, Beasley R, Global Initiative for Asthma (GINA) Program. The global burden of asthma: executive summary of the GINA Dissemination Committee report. Allergy. 2004 May;59(5):469–78.
- Asthma Fact sheet N°307 [Internet]. WHO Asthma. 2011 [cited 2013 Oct 21]. Available from: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs307/en/
- Gershon AS, Guan J, Wang C, To T. Trends in asthma prevalence and incidence in Ontario, Canada, 1996-2005: a population study. Am J Epidemiol. 2010 Sep 15;172(6):728–36.
- 4. Government of Canada SC. Asthma, by sex, provinces and territories (Number of persons) [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2013 Oct 13]. Available from: http://www.statcan.gc.ca/tables-tableaux/sum-som/l01/cst01/health50aeng.htm
- Government of Canada PHA of C. Life and Breath: Respiratory Disease in Canada (2007) - Public Health Agency of Canada [Internet]. Exec. Summ. 2007 [cited 2013 Nov 7]. Available from: http://www.phacaspc.gc.ca/publicat/2007/lbrdc-vsmrc/index-eng.php
- Hermus G, Stonebridge C, Goldfarb D, Theriault L, Bounajm F. Cost Risk Analysis for Chronic Lung Disease in Canada [Internet]. The Conference Board of Canada; 2012 Feb p. 25–6. Available from: http://www.conferenceboard.ca/e-library/abstract.aspx?did=4585
- Haahtela T, Holgate S, Pawankar R, Akdis CA, Benjaponpitak S, Caraballo L, et al. The biodiversity hypothesis and allergic disease: world allergy organization position statement. World Allergy Organ J. 2013 Jan 31;6(1):3.
- 8. Holick MF. Environmental factors that influence the cutaneous production of vitamin D. Am J Clin Nutr. 1995 Mar 1;61(3):638S–645S.
- Hawgood BJ. Sir Edward Mellanby (1884-1955) GBE KCB FRCP FRS: nutrition scientist and medical research mandarin. J Med Biogr. 2010 Aug;18(3):150–7.
- 10. Christakos S, Dhawan P, Porta A, Mady LJ, Seth T. Vitamin D and intestinal calcium absorption. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 2011 Dec 5;347(1–2):25–9.

- 11. Plum LA, DeLuca HF. Vitamin D, disease and therapeutic opportunities. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2010 Dec;9(12):941–55.
- 12. Paul G, Brehm JM, Alcorn JF, Holguín F, Aujla SJ, Celedón JC. Vitamin D and asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2012 Jan 15;185(2):124–32.
- Bozzetto S, Carraro S, Giordano G, Boner A, Baraldi E. Asthma, allergy and respiratory infections: the vitamin D hypothesis. Allergy. 2012 Jan;67(1):10– 7.
- Korn S, Hubner M, Jung M, Blettner M, Buhl R. Severe and uncontrolled adult asthma is associated with vitamin D insufficiency and deficiency. Respir Res. 2013;14(1):25.
- Youssef DA, Miller CW, El-Abbassi AM, Cutchins DC, Cutchins C, Grant WB, et al. Antimicrobial implications of vitamin D. Dermatoendocrinol. 2011;3(4):220–9.
- Searing DA, Zhang Y, Murphy JR, Hauk PJ, Goleva E, Leung DYM. Decreased serum vitamin D levels in children with asthma are associated with increased corticosteroid use. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2010 May;125(5):995–1000.
- Zhang Y, Leung DYM, Goleva E. Vitamin D enhances glucocorticoid action in human monocytes: involvement of granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating factor and mediator complex subunit 14. J Biol Chem. 2013 Apr 9;jbc.M112.427054.
- Aloia JF, Talwar SA, Pollack S, Feuerman M, Yeh JK. Optimal vitamin D status and serum parathyroid hormone concentrations in African American women. Am J Clin Nutr. 2006 Sep 1;84(3):602–9.
- 19. Holick MF. The Vitamin D Deficiency Pandemic: a Forgotten Hormone Important for Health. Public Health Rev. 32(No 1):267–83.
- 20. Kratz A, Ferraro M, Sluss PM, Lewandrowski KB. Normal Reference Laboratory Values. N Engl J Med. 2004;351(15):1548–63.
- 21. Weaver CM, Fleet JC. Vitamin D requirements: current and future. Am J Clin Nutr. 2004 Dec 1;80(6):1735S–1739S.
- 22. IOM (Institute of Medicine). Dietary Reference Intakes for Calcium and Vitamin D [Internet]. Washington, DC: The National Academic Press; 2011

[cited 2013 Oct 21]. Available from: http://www.nap.edu/catalog.php?record\_id=13050

- Statistics Canada. Canadian Health Measures Survey (CHMS) Data User Guide: Cycle 1 [Internet]. [cited 2013 Oct 21]. Available from: http://www23.statcan.gc.ca/imdb-bmdi/pub/document/5071\_D2\_T1\_V1eng.htm#a5
- 24. Royston P, Sauerbrei W. Multivariable model-building: a pragmatic approach to regression analysis based on fractional polynomials for modelling continuous variables. Chichester, England; Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley; 2008.
- Greene-Finestone LS, Berger C, Groh M de, Hanley DA, Hidiroglou N, Sarafin K, et al. 25-Hydroxyvitamin D in Canadian adults: biological, environmental, and behavioral correlates. Osteoporos Int. 2011;22(5):1389– 99.
- Schwalfenberg GK, Genuis SJ, Hiltz MN. Addressing vitamin D deficiency in Canada: A public health innovation whose time has come. Public Health. 2010 Jun;124(6):350–9.
- 27. Grant WB, Schwalfenberg GK, Genuis SJ, Whiting SJ. An estimate of the economic burden and premature deaths due to vitamin D deficiency in Canada. Mol Nutr Food Res. 2010;54(8):1172–81.
- 28. Burke W, Fesinmeyer M, Reed K, Hampson L, Carlsten C. Family history as a predictor of asthma risk. Am J Prev Med. 2003 Feb;24(2):160–9.
- 29. Liu T, Valdez R, Yoon PW, Crocker D, Moonesinghe R, Khoury MJ. The association between family history of asthma and the prevalence of asthma among US adults: National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1999–2004. Genet Med. 2009 May;11(5):323–8.
- 30. Vogt H, Bråbäck L, Zetterström O, Zara K, Fälth-Magnusson K, Nilsson L. Asthma Heredity, Cord Blood IgE and Asthma-Related Symptoms and Medication in Adulthood: A Long-Term Follow-Up in a Swedish Birth Cohort. Scheurer M, editor. PLoS ONE. 2013 Jun 21;8(6):e66777.
- 31. Bijanzadeh M, Mahesh PA, Ramachandra NB. An understanding of the genetic basis of asthma. Indian J Med Res. 2011 Aug;134(2):149–61.

- 32. Schrumpf JA, van Sterkenburg MAJA, Verhoosel RM, Zuyderduyn S, Hiemstra PS. Interleukin 13 Exposure Enhances Vitamin D-Mediated Expression of the Human Cathelicidin Antimicrobial Peptide 18/LL-37 in Bronchial Epithelial Cells. Infect Immun. 2012 Dec;80(12):4485–94.
- 33. Lange NE, Litonjua A, Hawrylowicz CM, Weiss S. Vitamin D, the immune system and asthma. Expert Rev Clin Immunol. 2009 Nov;5(6):693–702.
- 34. Kato S. The function of vitamin D receptor in vitamin D action. J Biochem (Tokyo). 2000 May;127(5):717–22.
- Raby BA, Lazarus R, Silverman EK, Lake S, Lange C, Wjst M, et al. Association of Vitamin D Receptor Gene Polymorphisms with Childhood and Adult Asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2004 Nov 15;170(10):1057– 65.
- Poon AH, Laprise C, Lemire M, Montpetit A, Sinnett D, Schurr E, et al. Association of Vitamin D Receptor Genetic Variants with Susceptibility to Asthma and Atopy. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2004 Nov;170(9):967–73.
- Zosky GR, Berry LJ, Elliot JG, James AL, Gorman S, Hart PH. Vitamin D Deficiency Causes Deficits in Lung Function and Alters Lung Structure. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2011 May 15;183(10):1336–43.
- Black PN, Scragg R. Relationship between serum 25-hydroxyvitamin d and pulmonary function in the third national health and nutrition examination survey\*. CHEST J. 2005 Dec 1;128(6):3792–8.
- Sutherland ER, Goleva E, Jackson LP, Stevens AD, Leung DYM. Vitamin D Levels, Lung Function, and Steroid Response in Adult Asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2010 Apr;181(7):699–704.
- 40. Khan S, Mai X-M, Chen Y. Plasma 25-hydroxyvitamin D associated with pulmonary function in Canadian adults with excess adiposity. Am J Clin Nutr. 2013 Jul 1;98(1):174–9.
- 41. Manuyakorn W, Howarth PH, Holgate ST. Airway remodelling in asthma and novel therapy. Asian Pac J Allergy Immunol Launched Allergy Immunol Soc Thail. 2013 Mar;31(1):3–10.
- 42. Clifford RL, Knox AJ. Vitamin D a new treatment for airway remodelling in asthma? Br J Pharmacol. 2009 Nov;158(6):1426–8.

- Chapuy M-C, Preziosi P, Maamer M, Arnaud S, Galan P, Hercberg S, et al. Prevalence of Vitamin D Insufficiency in an Adult Normal Population. Osteoporos Int. 1997 Sep 1;7(5):439–43.
- 44. Holick MF, Chen TC. Vitamin D deficiency: a worldwide problem with health consequences. Am J Clin Nutr. 2008 Apr 1;87(4):1080S–1086S.

# Chapter 4 Discussion and Conclusions

#### 4.1 Summary of the findings

Asthma and wheezing / current asthma poses a significant burden in Canada (1). The primary objective of this study was to investigate a possible link between vitamin D and asthma using data from the Canadian population. Over the last two decades, several observational studies have investigated this link. Most of the studies published to date have supported a protective effect of vitamin D on asthma (2–5), but a few studies have suggested vitamin D was a risk factor for asthma (6,7). Studies have used different cut-off points of vitamin D levels to assess the relationship with asthma outcomes and often report only a linear relationship.

To date there have been only a few studies of vitamin D and asthma conducted in a Canadian population. One of the objectives of this thesis was to determine the pattern of the relationship between vitamin D and asthma, and so to establish the range of vitamin D levels at which the adverse risk of asthma is minimized and lung function is optimal. This question was addressed in children in Chapter 2. Regardless of the presence of asthma, a significant proportion of children in this study had lower levels of vitamin D, indicating that vitamin D deficiency is a substantial problem in Canadian children. Serum 25(OH)D level was associated with current respiratory health, with both low and high serum levels posing an increased risk of current wheeze, lower lung function, and smaller increases in lung function with age compared to the moderate category,

supporting a U-shaped association. Serum 25(OH)D levels  $\leq$ 49 nmol/L were associated with increased risk of ever asthma, but no such association could be demonstrated for levels  $\geq$  75 nmol/L. Although some researchers have concluded that vitamin D levels between 50 and 75nmol/L are insufficient, these data supports that the optimal range with respect to respiratory health lies within this range. In these data, less than one hour of sun exposure was associated with an increased risk of ever asthma, independent of serum vitamin D status. It appears that decreased sun exposure, a modifiable behavioral factor, may be related to some other factor such as physical activity and could be an influential factor in the development of ever asthma.

In Chapter 3, an attempt was made to identify determinants affecting the relationship between asthma and vitamin D in adolescents and adults. The hypothesis examined in this chapter was that vitamin D deficient was associated with asthma in adults prone to develop current and ever asthma. In addition, the relationship between vitamin D and ever asthma was investigated among subjects with early-onset and late onset asthma phenotypes. Lower levels of vitamin D were observed in a significant proportion of adolescents and adults. Although not significant, lower serum 25(OH)D levels were observed in those with current or ever asthma, and people with serum 25(OH)D between 50 and 75 nmol/L level had the highest mean lung function. Individuals with serum levels ≤49 nmol/L had 185% increased risk of ever asthma. The association between ever asthma and 50% increased risk of current asthma. The association between ever asthma and vitamin D was only evident in those who developed asthma before 20 years

of age. Serum 25(OH)D levels  $\geq$  75 nmol/L were associated with lower mean and higher rate of decrease of FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC with increasing age. In these data, a positive correlation between weekly sedentary hours and current asthma was observed. It provides some evidence against the argument that physical activity increases the risk of asthma by increasing exposure to asthma triggers.

# 4.2 Discussion

This thesis has identified a number of modifiable determinants associated with respiratory outcomes, including sun exposure, use of electric heating systems, and vitamin D status in children and sedentary lifestyle, weight, and vitamin D status in adults. There were non-modifiable factors such as male sex, family history of asthma, associated with increased risk of asthma, which can help to increase the understanding.

A case-control study of urban African American children aged 6-20 years from Washington showed serum vitamin D levels were significantly lower in those with asthma and serum 25(OH)D levels  $\leq$ 50 and 50-75 nmol/L were associated with asthma (8). Another case-control study on children ( $\leq$ 16 years) from Qatar also showed that asthmatic children had lower serum vitamin D levels, exposure to sunlight and physical activity compared to controls (9). Likewise, low vitamin D levels were associated with lower lung function and asthmatic state in Iranian children aged 6-18 years (10). In a study included children with moderate and steroid resistant asthma (STRA), very low serum 25(OH)D levels were associated with STRA, reduced lung function, increased corticosteroid use and

asthma exacerbations (11). In children's data, the finding that low vitamin D levels were associated with an increased predisposition to ever asthma and current wheeze was consistent with the above studies. On the contrary, while the above studies suggest that serum levels  $\geq$ 75 nmol/L may protect against asthma, this data suggest serum levels  $\geq$ 75 nmol/L may also pose significant adverse effect.

In a cross-sectional study conducted on adults aged 20 and above years using NHANES data between 1988-1994, the highest quintile of serum vitamin D level ( $\geq$ 85 nmol/L) had significantly higher FEV<sub>1</sub> and FVC compared to the lowest quintile ( $\leq$ 40 nmol/L) (4). Similarly, another cross-sectional study conducted on 6,857 subjects of age 6 and above years from NHANES data of 2005-2006, serum vitamin D levels were inversely associated with current wheeze, and ever asthma (2). In another small cross-sectional study of asthmatic adults (18-60 years), reduced vitamin D levels were associated with impaired lung function, increased airway hyper-responsiveness, and reduced glucocorticoid response (3). However, another study did not find a significant difference in serum 25(OH)D levels or a correlation with asthma severity in 80 asthmatic adults and 80 controls arising from two separate cities in Europe (12). Goleva et al., in a case-control study of both pediatric and adult patients with asthma reported no difference in serum 25(OH)D levels, but vitamin D level had inverse correlation with serum IgE levels, and daily inhaled corticosteroid dose in only the pediatric asthma group, suggesting an age-specific effects of vitamin D in asthma (13).

In an interesting study, Luxwolda *et al.*, looked at serum 25(OH)D levels in two traditionally living adult populations in East Africa with lifelong exposure

to abundant tropical sunlight. In these populations of traditional tribes living in the cradle of mankind, who might be comparable to our African ancestors before the out-of-Africa diaspora, mean serum 25(OH)D concentration was 115 nmol/L(SD: 26). In this study, none had serum 25(OH)D levels below 50 nmol/L, and more than 85% of the sample had serum 25(OH)D greater than 80 nmol/L. However, the results from this study may not be generalized to the current western society since many other factors related with vitamin D homeostasis have changed during the human evolution.(14).

In conclusion, consistent with other studies, this study found that lower serum vitamin D levels were associated with an increased predisposition to asthma and asthma attacks in both children and adults. Serum levels ≥75 nmol/L imposed significant adverse effect on respiratory outcomes in children while such effect was not identified in adolescents and adults. It suggests that the action of vitamin D with respect to respiratory outcomes is somewhat different between children and adults. This could be partially due to a developing immune and respiratory systems and differential sensitivity of vitamin D receptor found between children and adults (15). Asthma in children is almost always allergic in origin (16), whereas in adults other mechanisms also seem important. Current data support the claim that guidelines regarding optimal vitamin D level should consider this difference between children and adolescents/adults.

## 4.3 Limitations

The main limitations of this study were use of self-reported outcomes, missing data for outcomes and vitamin D measurements, possibility of residual confounding and t relatively high overall high non-response rate.

Serum 25(OH)D has a half-life of 10-25 days. Serum levels of 25(OH)D are the best available marker of total vitamin D synthesized from sun exposure and dietary intake occurring in the preceding 2-3 weeks (17). The variability of serum concentration of vitamin D is high, likely due to its association with many lifestyle and nutritional factors in a given period of time. As a result, a single determination of vitamin D may be imprecise and provide an inadequate picture of the association in any cross-sectional studies.

Although a large number of potential confounders were considered in this study several confounders including non-nutritional factors (clothing, geographic latitude, institutionalization, etc.) and physiological factors (concentration of vitamin D binding protein) were not considered (18). Due to this, it is not possible to rule out that the associations observed in this study resulted from confounding.

The main outcomes used in the study, ever asthma, current asthma in adults, and current wheeze in children, were self-reported. The presence of ever asthma, and asthma attack in the past 12 months were derived from household questionnaires and used as outcomes in Chapter 3. The use of self-reported asthma and asthma attack, in-lieu of physician confirmed asthma, have been assessed and accepted as valid and reliable measures (19–21).
The data from CHMS were collected using a multi-stage sampling design to obtain data from a representative sample of Canadians. The overall response rate was 51.7% for the Canadian Health Measures Survey. Although sampling weights were adjusted to compensate for the various levels of non-response, estimates could nonetheless be biased if respondents' characteristics differed significantly from non-respondents.

The strength of associations reported in this study may have been underor overestimated due to missing data. There was over 10% data missing or incomplete with regard to lung function parameters in children. In adults, missing data on outcomes varied between 3-5%. The reasons the data were not included were: exclusion for safety reasons; spirometric testing of insufficient quality; and spirometric testing not performed. With regard to vitamin D measurements and other covariates included in the models, there was over 15% missing data in children and approximately 3% in adults. It is unclear how the missing data might have affected the effect and strength of associations.

There are several assays available to determine serum concentration of vitamin D. Among them, liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LCMS) is considered as gold-standard reference method. The performance of some commercially available assays are somewhat less good in their ability to estimate 25(OH)D due to differences in the affinity between vitamin D binding antibodies or D-binding proteins employed. In CHMS, vitamin D levels were determined using the Diasorin Liaison chemiluminescent assay. This assay was

98

found to recognise  $25(OH)D_2$  more than  $25(OH)D_3$  (22). However, it has been shown that this assay has a good agreement with LCMS measurements.

The CHMS was designed to produce national estimates only. Due to logistical reasons, sampling was confined to 15 sites within four major provinces (British Columbia, Alberta, Ontario, and Quebec). As a result of this design, the degrees of freedom available to any analysis using CHMS data was 11 (23). This constraint limited the number of variables that could be included in the model. Notably, it limited the ability to examine interactions and confounding effects.

Mean serum vitamin D levels, and prevalence of asthma vary in different ethnic groups. The sample from CHMS had an ethnicity mix similar to what has been reported in the Canadian census. Over 80% were Caucasians, but other groups were represented. However, the sample size was not large enough to conduct analyses stratified by race, in particular, on those who are known to have lower vitamin D levels.

## 4.4 Conclusions

Most Canadian cities are located north of 43° N latitude (24). During late fall to winter months, vitamin D synthesis from sun exposure is compromised (24,25). According to Webb *et al.*, the Canadian diet provides about 5 mcg (200 IU) of vitamin D which is not adequate to maintain an optimal serum levels (26– 28). As a result, vitamin D levels are likely to be too low in many Canadians. In this study, serum vitamin D levels of 50-74 nmol/L attained optimal respiratory outcomes. To achieve adequate vitamin D levels in sunlight-deprived seasons, a

99

number of viable options are available. The first option to increase vitamin D levels is through supplements. An intake of 1000 IU/day of a commercially distributed vitamin D supplement for a specified period might raise serum level by 15-25 nmol/L (24,29,30). However, there have been reports suggesting that there is considerable variability in responses to supplementation, and bioavailability in different population groups (18). A second option is fortifying food with vitamin D. Food items such as milk, orange juice, cereal have been fortified (18,30,31). In Canada, only two food staples, milk and margarine are fortified (32). After World War II, due to massive fortification of food items, an epidemic of hypercalcemia occurred in some European countries, which eventually lead to banning of fortification (31,33). Considering that, there would need to be a clear policy regulating fortification practices such as mandating nutrition labels provide information about vitamin D content, so as to try to prevent a recurrence of this. A third option is the use of artificial solar UVB which can be used to synthesize vitamin D. Artificial solar UVB exposure has been shown to be more efficient in increasing serum vitamin D level than solar UVB exposure, however, it is associated with a cost (34).

From a study conducted on asthmatic adults, increasing vitamin D levels were associated with greater lung function, reduced airway hyper-responsiveness, and greater glucocorticoid sensitivity, and the authors recommended monitoring & supplementation of vitamin D for those who were sub-optimally responding to inhaled corticosteroids (3). Intoxication secondary to an excess intake of vitamin D is an extremely rare condition (35). It is also not possible to develop vitamin D intoxication from excess exposure to sunlight (25). Given these facts and the finding that vitamin D deficiency is associated with an increased risk of asthma and asthma exacerbations, increasing serum levels in asthmatic adolescents and adults is unlikely to result in harm to the population. Supplementation and/or fortification, coupled with sensible sunlight exposure, could result in adequate vitamin D levels. The associated cost, to fortify food with vitamin D or to increase supplementation, would likely be cheaper than the cost of drug treatments for the many chronic diseases associated with vitamin D status (32).

There are considerable deficiencies in the knowledge and understanding of the role of vitamin D on optimal respiratory health. The longitudinal relationship between serum 25(OH)D and respiratory outcomes and how they vary between children and adults over time is still unknown. The optimal level of vitamin D with respect to both skeletal and non-skeletal outcomes needs to be ascertained. Since race is an important predictor of serum vitamin D level, racial differences in outcomes and safety of vitamin D interventions also need to be investigated. Other than association between low vitamin D levels and risk of falls, no data from randomized control trials exist. The use of vitamin D as an add-on for asthma management needs to be assessed further, possibly using randomized trials.

## **References:**

1. Bahadori K, Doyle-Waters MM, Marra C, Lynd L, Alasaly K, Swiston J, et al. Economic burden of asthma: a systematic review. BMC Pulm Med. 2009;9(1):24.

2. Keet CA, McCormack MC, Peng RD, Matsui EC. Age- and atopydependent effects of vitamin D on wheeze and asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2011 Aug;128(2):414–416.e5.

3. Sutherland ER, Goleva E, Jackson LP, Stevens AD, Leung DYM. Vitamin D Levels, Lung Function, and Steroid Response in Adult Asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2010 Apr;181(7):699–704.

4. Black PN, Scragg R. Relationship between serum 25-hydroxyvitamin d and pulmonary function in the third national health and nutrition examination survey\*. CHEST J. 2005 Dec 1;128(6):3792–8.

5. Korn S, Hubner M, Jung M, Blettner M, Buhl R. Severe and uncontrolled adult asthma is associated with vitamin D insufficiency and deficiency. Respir Res. 2013;14(1):25.

6. Hypponen E, Sovio U, Wjst M, Patel, Pekkanen J, Hartikainen A-L, et al. Infant Vitamin D Supplementation and Allergic Conditions in Adulthood: Northern Finland Birth Cohort 1966. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2004;1037(1):84–95.

7. Gale CR, Robinson SM, Harvey NC, Javaid MK, Jiang B, Martyn CN, et al. Maternal vitamin D status during pregnancy and child outcomes. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2007 Feb 21;62(1):68–77.

8. Freishtat RJ, Iqbal SF, Pillai DK, Klein CJ, Ryan LM, Benton AS, et al. High prevalence of vitamin D deficiency among inner-city African American youth with asthma in Washington, DC. J Pediatr. 2010 Jun;156(6):948–52.

9. Bener A, Ehlayel MS, Tulic MK, Hamid Q. Vitamin D Deficiency as a Strong Predictor of Asthma in Children. Int Arch Allergy Immunol. 2012;157(2):168–75.

10. Alyasin S, Momen T, Kashef S, Alipour A, Amin R. The Relationship Between Serum 25 Hydroxy Vitamin D Levels and Asthma in Children. Allergy Asthma Immunol Res. 2011 Oct;3(4):251–5.

11. Gupta A, Sjoukes A, Richards D, Banya W, Hawrylowicz C, Bush A, et al. Relationship between Serum Vitamin D, Disease Severity, and Airway

Remodeling in Children with Asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2011 Dec 15;184(12):1342–9.

12. Devereux G, Wilson A, Avenell A, McNeill G, Fraser WD. A case– control study of vitamin D status and asthma in adults. Allergy. 2010;65(5):666– 7.

13. Goleva E, Searing DA, Jackson LP, Richers BN, Leung DYM. Steroid requirements and immune associations with vitamin D are stronger in children than adults with asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2012 May;129(5):1243–51.

14. Luxwolda MF, Kuipers RS, Kema IP, Janneke Dijck-Brouwer DA,
Muskiet FAJ. Traditionally living populations in East Africa have a mean serum
25-hydroxyvitamin D concentration of 115 nmol/l. Br J Nutr. 2012;108(09):1557–61.

15. Stephenson T. How children's responses to drugs differ from adults. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2005 Jun;59(6):670–3.

16. Johnson CC, Ownby DR, Zoratti EM, Alford SH, Williams LK, Joseph CLM. Environmental Epidemiology of Pediatric Asthma and Allergy. Epidemiol Rev. 2002 Dec 1;24(2):154–75.

17. Vieth R. The Pharmacology of vitamin D, including Fortification Strategies. Vitamin D [Internet]. Second edition. Available from: http://www.direct-ms.org/sites/default/files/Vieth%20CHAPTER%2061.pdf

18. Brannon PM, Yetley EA, Bailey RL, Picciano MF. Summary of roundtable discussion on vitamin D research needs. Am J Clin Nutr. 2008 Aug 1;88(2):587S–592S.

19. Yang CL, To T, Foty RG, Stieb DM, Dell SD. Verifying a questionnaire diagnosis of asthma in children using health claims data. BMC Pulm Med. 2011 Nov 22;11(1):52.

20. Lukrafka JL, Fuchs SC, Moreira LB, Picon RV, Fischer GB, Fuchs FD. Performance of the ISAAC questionnaire to establish the prevalence of asthma in adolescents: a population-based study. J Asthma Off J Assoc Care Asthma. 2010 Mar;47(2):166–9.

21. Senthilselvan A, Dosman JA, Chen Y. Relationship between pulmonary test variables and asthma and wheezing: a validation of self-report of asthma. J Asthma Off J Assoc Care Asthma. 1993;30(3):185–93.

22. Wootton AM. Improving the Measurement of 25-hydroxyvitamin D. Clin Biochem Rev. 2005 Feb;26(1):33–6.

23. Statistics Canada. Canadian Health Measures Survey (CHMS) Data User Guide: Cycle 1 [Internet]. [cited 2013 Oct 21]. Available from: http://www23.statcan.gc.ca/imdb-bmdi/pub/document/5071\_D2\_T1\_V1eng.htm#a5

24. Grant WB, Schwalfenberg GK, Genuis SJ, Whiting SJ. An estimate of the economic burden and premature deaths due to vitamin D deficiency in Canada. Mol Nutr Food Res. 2010;54(8):1172–81.

25. Holick MF. Sunlight and vitamin D for bone health and prevention of autoimmune diseases, cancers, and cardiovascular disease. Am J Clin Nutr. 2004 Dec 1;80(6):1678S–1688S.

26. Webb AR, Kline L, Holick MF. Influence of season and latitude on the cutaneous synthesis of vitamin D3: exposure to winter sunlight in Boston and Edmonton will not promote vitamin D3 synthesis in human skin. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1988 Aug;67(2):373–8.

27. Webb AR, Engelsen O. Calculated Ultraviolet Exposure Levels for a Healthy Vitamin D Status. Photochem Photobiol. 2006;82(6):1697–703.

28. Ontario Health Technology Advisory Committee. Clinical Utility of Vitamin D Testing - Health Quality Ontario (HQO) [Internet]. [cited 2013 Oct 24]. Available from: http://www.hqontario.ca/evidence/publications-and-ohtac-recommendations/ontario-health-technology-assessment-series/clinical-utility-of-vitamin-d-testing

29. Naeem Z. Vitamin D Deficiency- An Ignored Epidemic. Int J Health Sci. 2010 Jan;4(1):V–VI.

30. Norman AW, Bouillon R. Vitamin D nutritional policy needs a vision for the future. Exp Biol Med. 2010 Sep;235:1034–45.

31. Holick MF. The Vitamin D Deficiency Pandemic: a Forgotten Hormone Important for Health. Public Health Rev. 32(No 1):267–83.

32. Calvo MS, Whiting SJ. Public Health Strategies to Overcome Barriers to Optimal Vitamin D Status in Populations with Special Needs. J Nutr. 2006 Apr 1;136(4):1135–9.

33. Rajakumar K, Greenspan SL, Thomas SB, Holick MF. SOLAR Ultraviolet Radiation AND Vitamin D. Am J Public Health. 2007 Oct;97(10):1746–54.

34. Datta P, Bogh MK, Olsen P, Eriksen P, Schmedes AV, Grage MM-L, et al. Increase in serum 25-hydroxyvitamin-D3 in humans after solar exposure under natural conditions compared to artificial UVB exposure of hands and face. Photochem Photobiol Sci Off J Eur Photochem Assoc Eur Soc Photobiol. 2012 Dec;11(12):1817–24.

35. Micozzi MS. Confronting theWorldwide Epidemic of Vitamin D deficiency [Internet]. Douglas Laboratories; 2008. Available from: https://www.google.ca/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=4&cad=rja &ved=0CEQQFjAD&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.douglaslabs.com%2Fpdf%2Fn utrinews%2FVitamin%2520D%2520Deficiency%2520NN%2520(10-08).pdf&ei=GBBqUq6FM8iPkAejmYHIAQ&usg=AFQjCNFmlerOa8SPAkL6s5 I5HsBTs\_CBRw&sig2=4-kiXeVp8ru9e9XkWUbufg

1/29/2014, 1:03 PM

## Approval

 Date:
 January 7, 2014

 Study ID:
 Pro00045399

 Principal Investigator:
 Ambikaipakan Senthilselvan

 Study Title:
 Association of Vitamin D and Respiratory Outcomes in Canadian Children, Adolescents and Adults

Approval Expiry Date: January 6, 2015

Thank you for submitting the above study to the Health Research Ethics Board - Health Panel. Your application has been reviewed and approved on behalf of the committee.

This project involves the secondary analysis of anonymous StatsCan data.

A renewal report must be submitted next year prior to the expiry of this approval if your study still requires ethics approval. If you do not renew on or before the renewal expiry date, you will have to re-submit an ethics application.

Approval by the Health Research Ethics Board does not encompass authorization to access the patients, staff or resources of Alberta Health Services or other local health care institutions for the purposes of the research. Enquiries regarding Alberta Health Services approvals should be directed to (780) 407-6041. Enquiries regarding Covenant Health should be directed to (780) 735-2274.

Sincerely,

Anthony S. Joyce, Ph.D. Chair, Health Research Ethics Board - Health Panel

Note: This correspondence includes an electronic signature (validation and approval via an online system).

https://remo.ualberta.ca/REMO/Doc/0/DINNRH28P154TD845LNDLAIGD1/fromString.html

Page 1 of 1